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wastewater génerated from the open lots generally
drains to the south ahd west, with a portion of thé
northeast pens draining to the north"?

Do you recall_ever writing that?
A. I believe that is in a cover letter for our

DNR permit appliication.

Q. But.you.do recall writing that?

A I do recall seeing that, vyes.

Q. You don't recall writing 1t?

A, I am not sure whether I wrote the letter or

the other engineer on that, listed on there, I
believe Scott Boyle.

:Q. Okay.

A. He may have physically typed that letier.
But I did sign that letter.

. So you remember signing a letter with that

statement in it?

A. Yes.

Q. And I take it since vyou signed that letter

"you believe that letter--that statement to.be true at

the time?

a. Yes.

Q. And you would agree, would you not, that if
rain fell on this site, drainage'wouid'iikely.occur

in those spots where you just mentioned in your
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letter?
A. Yes.
0. And, in faét, you came up with plans, didn't

you, for holding runoff from Mr. Vos' feedlot, did
you nbt?
'A. Yes.

Q. Yeah. And vou testified earlier that there

were--you looked--there were two different types of

scenarios yvou were looking at; one was an alternative
technology and one was a conventional?
A. Yes.

Q. Yeah. And I believe you said Mr. Vos

ultimately decided to go with the conventional?

A. Yes.

Q. veah. And you designed that—~énd you
ultimately.designed a conventional holding system for
hié runoff, didn't you?

A. Yes.

Q. Yeaﬁ. End you sized that to hold a Z5-vear,
24-hour storm event, didn't vour?

A Yes. |

Q. Yeah. And you also placed three holding
ponds to hold that waste on his facility in that
design, didn't you?

A. I believe there were three holding ponds,
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yes—-
Q. Yes.
A. --in the design.
0. And is it safe to say that these three

holding ponds corresponded to|the three discharge
points on the site?
| " A. No. |
Q. Okay. Would it be safe to say they

corresponded to the three low points on the site?

A. No.
Q. - Okay. We'll come back to that in a second.
Let's look at-- Do you have a folder in front of you

with Complainant's Exhibit 23; which I believe you
testified.about earlier?

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: And just when
you have it, Mr. Woerner, just tell ﬁs when you have
that in front of yoﬁ, okay?

| That's Complainant's Exhibit 23, counsel?
MR. RYAN: . Yes; Your Honor.
THE WITNESS: Yes, I have it.
BY MR. RYAN:
Q. Would you please turn to Attachment 4, page
i of 1%;
MR, RYAN: And Jjust so the record is clear

and Mr. Woerner understands what we're locking at,
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we're lookihg at an inspection repoft from EPA dated
May--

THE WITNESS: Could you--—

MR. RYAN: --May 31st, 2006.

THE WITNESS: Could you repeat the page
nunber, please”?

MR. RYAN: Yes. It would be.Attachm@nt 4,
which is.handwritten at the top of the page, and it
comes after page 27 of 27 of Attéchment'Bﬁ. It's a
color aerial photograph. |

THE ADﬁENISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE:‘ Well, I'm not
sure-—’ Leﬁ's go off the record for a minute.

(Discussion off the record.)

BY MR. RYAN:

Q. So, Mr. Wcérnez, we're looking at Attachment
3 of Complalnant S Exhzbzt 23. It's an aerial
@hotograph of the Lowell Vos feedlot, and at the
bottom of the page it says, "Page 1 of 2." Do vyou
see that?

A. Yes.

Q: | And, as I étated before, there's been prior
testimony in this proceeding that this was an EPA
inspection report. ‘Have you seen this document
before, this E?A.inspection report, prior to today's

testimony?
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A. Exhibit 23 being the whole report?
0. Yes. Have you seen this report before
tgday‘s tegtimony? | |
A, I remember seeling parts of it. I didn't
scan through all of it jgst now, but--

Q. Okay. Well, looking at Attachment 3, and--

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Let me Jjust

stop. Why don't you'make it easy on yourself.

Instead of having to lock at it sideways, turn it
arouﬁd S0 ;t's-easy for vyou, Qkay? |

THE WITNESS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: It will help
you cut, perhaps. U
BY MR. RYAN:

Q. Looking at Attachment'B, do you see the
prominent red arrows showing what I'll represent to
you as flow coming.off‘thersouth side of the feedlot
and chahnelizing to‘the west? Do you see that?

Al Yes.

Q.' And is that--would you say that those flow
patterns are consistent_with'yoﬁr statement in your
December 2nd, 2005, letter, thét "Currently manufe‘
and process wastewater generated from the open
pen-~open lots generally drains to the éopth“?

A. Yes.
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Q. And looking at the north side of the pens in
Attachment No. 3, page 1 of 2 to Attachment 3 to

Exhibit 23, do you see the red arrows that flow from

the top of Pen 12 to the unnamed tributary? Do you

see those arrows?
A. Yes.
Q. Would those be consistent with vour

statement in the same December 2nd letter that Ta

portion of the northwest [sic] pens draining to the

north"? Would that be consistent with your statement

there?

A. Could you repeat that, please?
Q. Yes. In your December 2nd letter, vou say

"Currgntzy manure and process wastewater génerated
from the open lots generally drains to the south and
west, with a portion of the ndfthwest [gie] pens
draining to the north.”

My question to you 1is are those arrows
pointing up from Pen 12 towards the unnamed tributary
consiétent with.that sentence I just read fo yvou from

your letter?

A. No.

0. Okay. Why and how are they not consistent?

A I believe the letter is referencing Pen 6,
the northwest pen draining to the northwest. Pen 12
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would be a northeast pen.
MR. MQAFEE:- Ypur Homor, I'm sorry to
interrupt, buf counsel keeps referring to a letter
that Mr. Woerner wrote a number of years ago, and it
might be advantageous or helpful to the witness if he
had a chance to look ét tﬁat letter.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Yes. That's

~an objection, in effect, and I will allow that to

occur.

So will you, Counsel Ryan, place that lefter
in front of-- This is the lettgr you just handed me
a .copy of? |

MR. RYAN: Yes, E.did, Your Honor.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: But isﬂthis
not in the exhibits already?

ME. RYAN: No. Thig was not in our

prehearing exchange, Your Honor. I was not planning

on putting it into evidence.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Oh, I thoughﬁ

that he was referring toc something that he already

had a chance to look at. I'm glad that Mr. McAfee

called that to my attention.

Let's go off the record for a minute. I

‘want to make sure this witness has an adequate

opportunity to look over this five- or six-page
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document.

So we're going to go off the record, and,
Mr. Woernef, you liook at that, and when you feel
you've had a sufficieﬁt time to loqk at thatf then
Mr. Ryan can resume his questions.

| We're off the record.-

(Discussion off the record,}

THE ADMINZSTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: And just let
me note on the record that thefe were saveral
off~the-record disCuséioﬁs regarding a letter that
ﬁounsei for EPA was gquestioning Mr. Woerner about.
The docﬁm@nt that I was provided and the witness was
provided was only——Was missing at léast one page of a
two-page letter. The exhibit itself was much longer
than_that. It's not part of th@'recoxa exhibit, buﬁ-
fhe document itself was much longer than that.

But I did give Mr. Woerner the opportunity
to look at the second page of that letter;.

And you had a chance to look at that sécond
page, sir?

THE WITNESS: No, Your Honor.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: You didn't?

THE WITNESS: It was identified and tﬁen
other discussions took place.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Ckay. S0
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we're going to proceed with that note.
Go ahead, Mr. Ryan.
BY MR. RYAN:
2. Mr. Woerner, you were one of the engineers

that helped design the runoff controls for Mr. Vos'

facility?
A, Yes.
Q. And those runoff controls, just so we're

clear, have not been built, to your knowledge, have

they?
A Correct.
Q. So then the pictures we looked at in

Respondent's 2 through, I belieﬁe it was, 11,
those--the lot would look more or léss the same today
as 1t did tﬁen? |

A. I have--I have not been to the feedlot. I
believe I was-~I1 drove by, I did not stop ét the

feedlot, approximately two years ago on other

travels.
0.  So it's--
A. I have not been there in the recent time.

Q. Okay. So, to your knowledge, no--none of
the controls that vou designed have been built today?
A. Correct.

- Q. Now, going back to your memory regarding you
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testified earlier on direct examination that yoﬁ
spent--you had guite a bit of back—and—fofth between
yoﬁ and Mr. Vos as to what plan was going to be used
or implemented and what control structures would
finally be aesigﬁed and then even testified you

designed some control structures, and then those

| plans were submitted to IDNR.

Do you remember all that testimony?

A. Yes.

Q. - And when you designed the facility, what did
yvou~~did you--had you come to a conclusion that there
was a potential for discharge from this facility to
this unnaﬁéd tributary we've been talking about?

A. When we designed the faéility, we designed
controi structures to handle the poten%ial runcff
from the feedlot.

Q. And did you conclude that there was--Elliot

Creek was the receiving water of the runoff from this

feedlot?‘
CA. That was not part of cur design.
Q. But did you reach that conclusion at any

time during your design work on this?
A. We—-we dealt with Mr. Vos' feedlot and the
property near it. .The pfoximity of Elliot Creek and

whether or not it was a poteﬁtial receiving stream of
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tﬁe runoff was not~;did not directly play into our
design. We were focusing more on the immediate area
around his feedlot. |

Q. Okay. That wasn't my qﬁestion. My qﬁestign
to yeu was did you ever conclude that Elliot Creek

was a receiving water for runoff from Mr. Vos'

feedlot--
A During our design--
Q. -—at any time?
A. We were made aware §f Elliot Creek

approximately one year.ago.when I was in ées Moines
meeting with Mr. Vos, Mr. McAfee, and the EPA. Prior
to that, we did not--we did not look at Elliot Creek.

0.  Okay. I still don't think you've answered
my question. My question was at any timé did you
reach thé conclusion that Elliot Creek was the
receiving water for the runoff from Mr. Vos' feedlét,
yes or nov?

A. Yes.

0.  Okay. And did you reach that conclusion

prior to that meeting you just referred to a year ago

with EPA?
A. I don't-- Yes.
O. Okay. When did you reach that conclusion?

A. puring-- I don't recall the exact time.
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Q. Approximately.
A. Following our design, between the design and

the meeting with the EPA, I was made aware of Blliot

Creek and the fact that an alleged discharge had

taken place_to Filiot Creek or an unnamed fributary
of Elliot Creek ultimately reaching Elliot Creek.

0.  Okay. Now, is it your understandinthhatl
the unnamed tribgtary which flows appxoximately to
the west of Mr. Vos' property flows into Elliot

Creek?

A, Yes.
0. And that Elliot Creek flows further

downstream and connects up with larger downstream

waters”?
A. I believe that's correct, YQS.
Q.  And when you-- You testified earliier on

-diredt that you had-~you offered an opinion as to

whether the modeling would be sufficient to show a

~violation 0f the Clean Water Act, so you must have

- some knowledge of what the Clean Water Act

requirements are; is that correct?

A With respect to--

0 Feedlots.

A ——feédlot runoff? Yes.

0 And the Clean Water BAct-- Weli, tell me
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. what yéu understand about what the Clean Water Act

says about runoff of feedlots in general.

A. ln.general, runoff from feedlots going
into--I don't know the--I can't quote the direct
terminélcgym—waters of the--waters of the U.S. 1s
prohibited.

Q. And so as an engineer, when you're designing
feedlot controls for compliance with the Clean Water
Act, it would be important, would it hot, fo know
where the nearest surface water was, the nearest
water of the United Stétes?'

A. . Yes.

Q.  And it would be impecrtant, would it not, to
design tQ énsure that the rﬁnoff from the feedlot did
not_reach waters of tﬁe United States except as in
cémpliance with applicable permit?

b, Yes.

C Q. and so it‘§ safe to say, isn't it, ﬁhat you
made some kind of analysis here, didn't you, ch
Mr. Vos' feedlot as to the 1ikelihbod of discharges
from his feedlot gettin§ into a water of the United
Staﬁes?
A. In our design we looked at his feedlot, the

drainage area of the feedlot, and where that water

went with respect to our proposed structures--
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Q. Okay.

A. —-and sized those structures to handle that
runoff in accordance with Iowa DNR regulations at
that time.
| Q. So you sized it to méke sure that the water
that fell on it or snow melt that originated on it
would sgay on it, not leave; 1is fhat correct?

A, We designed it, in my opinion, to Iowa DNR
standérds that were in place at thé time our design

was being reviewed.

Q. Okay. And was that design ultimately
.approved?
A, Yes.

MR.-RYANE May we go off the record for Jjust
a moment, Your Honor?
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Yes.
(Discussion off the record.)
THE ADMINTSTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Back on the
record. ‘
BY MR. RYAN:
Q. Mr. Wecerner, just looking at Complainant's

50, which is the large plan diagram, I believe, for

the Lowell Vos feedlot-- Do you have that in.front
of you?
A. Yes.
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Q.  BAnd do you recognize--

A, Excuse me. Yes.

0. Do you recognize this document?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you tell us what 1t 1is?

A. It appears to be the proposed site layouﬁ

that was provided to the Towa DNR as part of his .
application.

0. Now, I'll fepresent to you.thefe are some
markings on this which were placed there by apother
witnegs, and I won't be talking about those. Those

markings you see towards the middle cf the

.photograph——middl@'of the plan and going south, those

wére put on by‘a witness here in this case, and we
won't discuss those now.

Looking at this diagram, now, is this the
plan that you discussed a moment ago, before our most
recent break, that you said complied with applicable
IﬁNR standards at the‘time?

A. I believe that is the same document, yes.

0. And you'would‘agree, would ydu not,'that
this.document shows constfucted berming substantially
along the south side of the feedlét?

A. It shows proposed berming.

0. Thank you. And you would agree, would you

Al
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not, that it also shows proposed berming alomé the
norfheast side of the lot? |

A. Yes.

Q. End also proposed berming along the
northwest—-—-or the norﬁh side of the lot, ﬁorth,
northwest?

A, Yes.

Q. And is it your~wit'é YOur understanding, is
it not, ﬁhat none of this constructed berming is
actually in place now?

“A. That is corrgct.

Q; And it aEso‘showé three holding ponds, and
these holding ponds were designed.to hold the runocff -
coming off of this facility, correct?

A. Yes.

0. And, now, lsn't it true.that 1f these herms
and holding ?onds wefenft there when rain occurred
this--the rain runoff would leave the faciiity;
wouldn't it? It wouldn't be heid on the facility
without‘thése bezms;and ponds?

A. The potential.exists, yes;

Q. Okay. So what's-thef~generaliy speaking,
how many million gallons do we have in storage here?

A. I~~1 do not recall, I‘m sorry, how many

gallons there are in these struétures.
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Q. These structures look fairly large relative

+o the size of the facility. Is this a fairly

standard conventional design for runoff controls?

A. The approach we took te sizing the

struétures, yves. This--
Q. And—-.
A. -~is a fairly standard approach.
Q. and you would agree, would you not, that

this part of Iowa where Mr. Vos' feedlot is receives
a significant amount of rginfall, doesn't it?

A | It depends on your definition of
"gignificant."

Q. Tt rains there enough to have to_buiid big
ponds to hold runoff in general, doesn't it?

A Yes.

Q. And, iﬁ fact, they can getf pretty big

rainstorms in that part of Iowa in the summer, can't

they?

A. I--I don't know the historical weather
patterns.

Q.. And,_generélly speaking, yvou're familliar

with the weather in this part of Iowa, aren't you?
AL Yes.
Q. And it's not uncommon to get over an inch of'

rain in a day in the summer, 1is 1t?
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A. At times it is possible, yes.
Q. Now, you would agree, would you not, based
on the-- And I believe you stated that this--the

contour lines we see on this Exhibit 50 were put
there by=--were contour linés that ybur engineering
comﬁany came up with, riqht?

A They were based on data that we collected,
as well as data that the Iowa NﬁCS collected from

their survey. We did draft ﬁhiSwm

0. Okay. And--
Al -—topographic map.
Q.‘ ~-you would agree, would you not, that it

shows, taking away the construction——the proposed

eonstruction, vou'd agree, would you not, that it

shows a low point on the south side of the facility
that continues out to the west?

A.  Yes.

Q. Have you ever walked from the south side of
Mr. Vos' facility oué.to the unnamed tributary? Have
you ever walked that beforé?

AL No, sir.

Q. .Have you ever looked at any of the aezial'
photogfaphy for that site,lcther than Complainant's
Exhibit 23, Attachment 3, which we jﬁst talked ébout?

A, Yes.
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Q. And are you familiar with;wfrom the aerial
photégraphy that there‘is a preferential drain path
off t§ the south and west from Mr. Vos' feediot?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, I'm done with Cemplainant's Exhibit 590
for the time, if you would like fo take that from in
front of you. You can just plaée it there on top.
111 put it away later.

Looking atléomplainant's Exhibit 23, it wés
the one we were lookingrat before, the inspection
report. Do you have that in front of you, Exhibit
237 |

A, Yes.

Q. And could you please turn to Attachment 4,
which would be the one right after the previous

attachment we lcoked at last time. It's the same

aerial photograph that we saw before, but there are

‘grcund—levél photographs following it.  "Attachment

4" ié written at the top of the page.
Do you see that?
A. Yes.
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: And does that
say on the bottom of the page, "Page 1 of 16"?
MR. RYAN: It does, Your Honor. |

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: No. I'm
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asking the witness.
THE WITNESS: .Yes, it'does; Your Honor.

BY MR. RYAN:

0.  Well, first of all, looking at fhe page 1 of
16, do you recall-- You didn't take the pictures in
Respohdent's 18, but can you tell me--excuse me--—-in
Respondent's 11. You testified you didn't take these
plctures, someoﬁé in your office took them, in

Respondent's 11 and 12, for'example?.

A, Yes.
0. . But you were able to identify where they
are?
A, Yeé.
Q. Okay. Looking at-- We're going to look at
two exhibits at once now. Let's Iook at Réspondent‘s

Exhibit 11, okay, and then also Complainant's 23.

Now, you see ORI Complainant's 23, Attachment

4, there are a number of little nunbers with arrows

'pointiﬁg on them on the south side. You see 4, 3, 5,

6, 7, 87?7 You see that?

A. Yeé.

Q. And 1'11 represent ﬁd you that those are
where the inspector took the photos that follow this
page. Looking at Respondent's 11, can you tell me

approximately where, on this aerial photograph on
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Attachment 4, that picture was taken?

A. Along the'south gside of either  .-Pens 1, 2, 3}
or 5. |

Q. ‘Okay. So you're not cerfain exactly where,
it's just somewhere in that general area?

A. It is-- That's correct. I am not certain
exactly which--which pen 1t was below..

Q. Okay. You can put R-11 away.. Let's look at
Complainant's 23. Let's tufn to page~~of Attachment
4, let‘s’pléas@ turn to page 6 of 16.

Do you see that? It's a photograph of a

fence line with some cropé_in the foreground and a

cow's head on the extreme left. Do you see that?
A. Yes;
Q; And you would agree, would you not, that

there's no berming present in that photograph?

A.  Yes.

" Q. | And you would agree, wqula you not, from the
previous testimony that--trying to identify where our
11 waé taken, that this is Photocgraph 5, was téken in
approximatelyuthe same area, looking back to the
legend on page 1 of 16 of Attéchment 47

& Tt was taken on the--the scuth side'of those
pens.

Q. . Okay.
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A, Yes.

0.  So this Photo No. 5 in Complainant's Exhibit
23, Attachment 4, was taken in approximately the same
area as Resgpondent’'s ll--or 1072

A, Taken on the same side of the facility, yes.

Q. bkay.‘ And vyou Wou&d agrée that
Complainant's Exhibit 23, Photo 5 does not show any

berming?

A. Photo on page 6 of 16 you're referring?
Q. Yes.
A. Yes.

0. And you would agree there's no vegetative

strip there?

Al Yes.

Q. And vou would agrée that there's really

nothing there to prevent runoff from occcurring off

that part of the feedlot?

C AL Yes.

Q. Would you égreé that that——théﬁ feature we
see in the--approximately in the middle of.th@ page
is an erosional feature, looking at page 6 of 16 of

Attachment 47

A, Yes.
0. And it was caused by running walter?
A.  Yes.
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Q. Page 7 of 16, the next page, Photo No. &,
would you also agree that feature we're locking at in

that photograph is an erosional feature?

A. Yes.

Q. And it waé caused by running water?

A. Yes.

Q. But you'wve never actﬁally_been on the south

gide of Mr. Vos' feedlct and wailked any of these
features down to the unnamed tributary?

A. To the unnamed tributary west of the

‘feedlot, no, I have not walked that direction.

Q. Have you, with your own eyes, seen any
erosional features similar to the ones we see here in

Photo No. 5 at the Lowell Vos facility exiting the

facility?

A. Yes.

0. Okay. And could you describe ﬁhose for me,
please?

A. During our initial visit in July of 2004, we

did walk the perimeter of the f@edlot with Mr. Vos,
and at that time we walked along the south side. The
areas identified in the recent pictures are
comparable to some of the spots that we saw out
there.

Q. So when you say the recent picturés, you're
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referring to these pictures we just looked at in

Attachment 4 to Exhibit 237

A. Yes. The pictures of erosion in the

cornfield. However, at that time the corn was -

significant--or the--I don't recall if it was corn or

beans, but it was taller stand of vegetation
than--than what is--was present in the pictures from
our'ng 105 visit.

Q. You talked-~ I'm going to switéh gears here

a little kit. You talked earlier during your

testimony about~~you talked quite a bit about the

whole funding process for NRCS. to fund Mr. Vos'

construction project. Do you recall that?
A. - Yes.
. Now, so that's~~that's taxpayer money being

used to build something for Mr. Vos; is that"cdrrect?
Al Yesf
‘Q. 5o Mr. Vos waén‘t——this plan that we just
rtalked ébqut in Complainant's Exhibit 50, the big

one, was that paid for by the taxpayers?

A, Yes.
0. We talked then--we spent some time talking
about also the Iowa Plan or-- I say "we." You and

Mr. McAfee had a series of questions about the Iowa

Plan and you speni some time talking about
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Complainant's Exhibitw—Compiainant's Exhibit 22. Do
you recall that?
This was the April 28th,l2005, letter. And
if you would like to turn to it, please do.

A. Yes, I remember that. |

0. .And there was that bold language in the
middle of the page——this is the letter to Mr. Vos,
énd I believe you testified you'd seen this leétter--
"If your final engineering plan is not submitted
within 30 days of your receipt of this letter, your
facility will no longer be‘a participanﬁ in the Iowa
Plan.™

A. Yes,. I see That.

0. Okay. And did you ever call up IDNR and
say, "I'm working with Mr. Vos: We can't get it to
you on time," or anything like thét? Did you ever
call them up and say, "Please' don't pull the
trigéer"?

A. I have been in contact with the Iowa DNR

informing them, keeping them up to date as to the

progress on the project.

0. But that*slnot‘my gquestion. You were aware
of thig letter soon after it was written, correct?
A. I do not recall when I received the letter,

but I believe it was within a couple of weeks.
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Q. Okavy. So at the time--roughly at the time
this SO&day clock was ticking, it‘s.referenced in
A?ril 28th letter, you were‘éwafe of this 30-day
clock tickiﬁg?

A. Yes.

Q. And you knew that if Mr. Vos didn't get his
plans in at the end of that 30 days, according to

this boldface language, he would be out of the plan,

correct?

A."-Yes.

Q. And did you ever call IDNR and say, "Please
give.usmore time. We can't make this deadline.

It's not ﬁossible“?.

.A. I do notlrecall.

Q. Did Mr. Vos, to your knowledge, ever make
that phone cali to IDNR?

A. I-~I do not recall if he did ér not. I'm
not aware.

Q. =~ Would it surprise you'if I told you we had

two witnesses from IDNR yesterday testify that

Mr. Vos was considered out of the Iowa Plan as a
reéult of this deadline in this letter?

A. Pardon me?

Q. Would it surprise you if I told you that two

witnesses from IDNR yesterday testified that Mr. Vos
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was considered out of.the Towa Plan as a result of
this language in this April 28th letter?

A No.

Q. What vou were doing was you were actiné as
the engineer for Mr. Vos fto get his controls
constructed, right?

A. The engineer to provide the design for the
controls that would ultimately be constructed, yes.

Q. And yoﬁ had--your interaction with IDNR was
to get those plans épproved, correct?

A. - Once we provided them, vyes.

Q. So in terms of what you were déing is you
were working with NRCS to-help obtain the funding to
fund your preparation of these plaﬁs for Mr. Vos and
then getting them submitted to IDNR‘for approval; 1is
that féir?

A, We were not responsible for obtaining

funding from the NRCS?

0. But you were working with NRCS, werenft you?
A, Yes. They were our client.
0. And NRCS did, in fact, fund this? They did,

in fact, ultimately fund this with taxpayer dollars
for Mr..Vos to build these facilities or at least--
A. . For the design, ves.

0. So when you were doing that, when you were
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working with NRCS and IDNR, the Iowa Plan really
didﬁ‘t play a role in‘what you were doing, did it?

A, I'm not sure I understand your question.

Q. I mean nothing about the Iowa FPlan reaily
affected yoﬁf getting-~your drawing up these plans
fér Mr. Vos and getting them approved, did it? I
mean the amnesty program, for example.

A, We were working for Mr. Vog--

0.  Right.
A. ~—to get them done to his satisfaction and

then provide them to the Iowa DNR .

Q. But the existence or nonexistence of this-
amnésty program didn't really affect how you drew up
your plans or how you got your fundihg_or héw you
mdved it forward, did it? | |
| A. - I'm not sure I can answér that yes or no.

Q. But you stated on direbt examination

that--I'm paréphrasing here, because I havé té work

off my notes, and please correct me if I'm wrong--1if

Mr. Vos had receivéd the permit on fime-- We went
through the--you discussed how you subﬁitted the
permit application fo; the construction of this
project to IDNR and'then.they later approved it but

it took some time to get that approval, and I believe

you testified if Mr. Vos had received that permit on
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+ime he could have constructed before the end of the
five—yeai periecd in the Iowa Plan.

Do you regall that testimony?

A.. Yes.

Q. Now, you submitted ﬁhe plang to IDNR iIn
December of '05, correct?

h. ‘Yés.

¢. ° And they had a 60-day window to approve then
at the time? | | |

A. I believe there was a 60-day window.

0. Okay. Ana so 1if they had approved them "
within 60 days, theoretically, that would have been,
if you submittéd in December,.let's_assum@ just
December 1lst, then it would have been January,

February before the approval would have come,

correct?
A It would have been by March 1lst.
Q.- Okay. But you couldn’t have actually

constructed it by March 1st, could you have?

A. No. |

Q. So even if they had approved them within 60
days,‘you couldn't have got these facilities
constructed before the end of the Iowa Plan, could
you?

A. My-- I don't recall the exact date that the
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Towa Plan expired.

0.  I'll represent to you it was May-lst—4excﬁse

me~wApri1 lst, 2006. Assuﬁing that's the date--
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LﬁW JﬁDGE: '067
MR. RYAN: ‘Oé. |

BY MR. RYAN:

0. If you had submitted the plans in December
cf '05, had them approved within 60 dayé, could you
have constructed these facilities in the winter, in -
February, in time to ﬁeet.the April 1st deadline fof
the end of the Iowa Plan?

A. I do not know. I do not recall the

conditions that~-the weather conditiong--

Q. Okay.

A. --that spring directly, but on a project
like this a few wéeks worth of dirt work could have
built structures for this facility.

Q. You would agree that February is not spring
in northwest Iowa, wouldn't you?

B, Typically it is not, ves.

G. And you testified earlier that you couldn't
erk in tﬁe‘fall because it wbuld jﬁst——it would méss
things up fof you trying to'wqu next spring?

A. The potential was there.

2. Yeéh. And that same potential would exist

PETERSEN COURT REPORTERS
317 Sixth Avenue, Suite 606
Des Molines, IA 50309-4155

{515) 243-65%¢6




10
11
12
i3
14
15

16

17

18
19
20
2
22
23
24

2b

1116
if you tried to break ground in frozen dirt in
February, wouldn't it?

Al Yes. |

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Just to make
the record cleér, Mr, Ryan, as I ﬁoted what.you were
saying, and you can tell me if that's not what you
intended to ask or wheﬁher i;—the record will show;
but I thought you were_working under the assumption
in the most recent questions.to Mr. Woerner that 1if
there was approval in February '05, and then you told
me, I think( a minute ago that the Iowa Plan expired

in April of '06, so we're talking abQut 14 months,

aren't we? If your gquestion was whether they could

do it in 14 months--
MR. RYAN: No, Your Honor. If I said that,
I misspoke. I believe the testimony was that the

plan was submitted in December of '05. . Sixty days.

‘would be February of '06, approximately.

‘THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Okay.

MR. RYAN: And then the plan expired on
April 1st of '06.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: I'm sorry.
Ckay. |

MR, RYAN: And if I misspoke, I apologize.

THE ADPMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Okay.
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BY MR. RYAN:

Q. Now; during the pendency of this permit
application there wag.no reiief from the Clean Water
Act requirements, was there?

_MR. McAFEE Cbjection; calls for a legal
conclusion.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Sustained.

MR. RYAN: I believe Mr. Woerner testified
earlier on direct that he did not believe the use of
this model was appropriaté for proving violations of
the Clean Watef Act, énd he testified on cross that
he has an understanding of what the requirementé of
the Clean Watér Act are for feedlots. I believe he
can tesﬁify as to whether or not this.facilitylhad an
ongoihg obligation to comply with Clean Water Act.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: I think I
ruled.

MR. RYAN: I'm sorry, Your Henor.
BY MR. RYAN:

Q. Do you have an understanding, as you sit
here today, whether feedlots are alzoweﬁ to discharge

to waters o6f the United States without an NPDES

permit?
A. Do I have an understanding?
0.  Uh-huh.
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A. Yes.
Q. And what is that understanding?
A. Understanding is that facilities are not

allowed to do that.

Q. Okay. And when you were working on the
plans for Mr. Vos' feedlot, there was nothing to stop
him from=--from going cut and putting up berms or some
kind of structures to prevent runoff from entering
the nearby tributary, was there?

A. I don't know if ﬁhere was énything
preventing him‘from doing that;

Q. Okay. Now, do.you know whether or not

Mr. Vos had an NPDES permit in 19917

A. No.
0. So you have no knowledge of that?
A. I am aware that he had an engineer, had

spoken to an engineer, but‘I‘m not aware of the
specifics of what happened at that time. The
engineer wasn't with our office, and I was not with
an engineering compaﬁy at that time.

Q. So do you have some knowledge of Mr. Vos'

status under the Clean Water Act from the early

_nineties?

A. No. Not that I recall.

MR. RYAN: Your Honor, if I may'have just a
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minute, I think I can wrap up quickly.
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: ASure. We'll
go off the record.
(Discussion off the record.)
BY MR. RYAN:

Q. . Mr. Woerner, regarding the NRCS funding for
Mr. Vos' facility for the engineering work, did--was
it--was there any reason Mr. Vos cOuldnkt‘have funded
this himself?

A, I don't think I can answer that for him.

Q. Well, I mean, aside from the fact whether he
can afford it or not, and that's not what I'm asking
you--let's assume for sake of argument he had enocugh
money--could he have just gone forward himself
without NRCS funding? |

A. I wéuid assume; ves. .

Q. And he could have hired a firm like yours to
say, "Please build this for me," or, "Please design
this for me"? |

A, Yes.

Q. And you sald there was a period of time-when;
Mr. Vos was trying to decide‘whether he wanted to go
with the alternative technology'or the Conventionél
technology. Would fou say thererﬁas sdmé time where

he was mulling that over?

A
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A. Yes.

Q. And that was right about the time of the
April 2005 letter from IDNWNR?

Al Yes.

0. - Okay. 8o isn't it safe to say that part of
the--bBased on your testimony this morning; that part
of the delay in moving this along‘was Mxr. Vos needed

to decide what to deo? Wouldn't you agree with that

statement?
A. Part of the delay?
Q. Yes.
A. Yes.

MR. RYAN: I have no‘further gquestions, Your
anor. |

THE ADMINISTRATIVE .LAW JUDGE: Do you need a
few minutes, Mr. McAfee, or--

MR. MCAFEE: No.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Okay. Great.

© MR. RYAN: Could we go off the record for

one seéond while we-~

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Sure.

MR. RYAN: I don't want to be walkiné in
front of Mr; McAfee while he's questioning.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE : We'll go off

the record.

PETERSEN COURT REPORTERS
317 8ixth Avenue, Suite 606
Des Moines, IA 50309-4155

{515) 243-6596




10

11

12

13

- 14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25b

1121
(Discussion off the record.)
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: We'll go back
on the record with redirect from Mr. McAfee.
REDIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. McAFEE: |

Q. Mr. Woerner, I juét want to revisit this
issue of the Iowa Plan and completing construction by
é certain date. Regarding the questions Mf. Ryan was
asking vou, as I understood it and as stated by
Mr. Ryan, I believe the Iowa Plan, the five—yéar
daté, as he stated, ended April 1. Is that your
understanding?

.A. That's my understanding. That's what he
sald, ves. | |

g. Yes. And if Mr. Vos would have received his
permit within the 60 déys, it would have been no
later than 60 days from December--~ I believe the
record shows December 5th, 2005.: |

A. Yes. |

Q. And. for sake 0f pur discussicn here today,

that would be approximately what date?

A. February 5th.
.Q. Okay. And you, in fact, talked to-- Excuse
me . |

Did you have a contact with DNR about that
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time?
ALY Yes.
0. And T believe vou testified you were fully

aware of when thé Iowa Plan ended, and wasn't

that--or was that a reason for your call?

A. That was one of the reasons, ves.
0. . And if my math is correct, doesn't that
leave—~ If it would have been issued when it should

have been, how many months would he have had to
complete construction prior to April 1?

A. If we had received the approvai on February
5th of 2006, that would have given him just short of.
two months prior to April 1, 2006.

0. And what's your experience with the month of
March in your area of practice that-- I'1ll ask can
constructién in a normal year, if there is one, can

significant construction activities for a system like

Mr. Vos' occur during the month of March?

A. Yes.

MR. McAFEE: No further guestions, Your

Honor.

MR. RYAN: T have no further questions, Your
Honor.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JﬁDGE: Okavy.
Mr. Woernerxr, thaﬁk'you for your testimony. You're
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excuéed.
| (Witness excuéed.)

THElADMINISTRATiVE LAW JUDGE; Did you want
to say something, Mr. McAfee?

| MR. McAFEE: No, Your Honor.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Thank you.
So we're going to pick up at 2 o‘dlockr See you all
at 2. We'll go off the record.

{Recess at 12:54 p.m., until 2:00 p.m.)}
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AFTERNOON SESSION (2:00 p.m.)

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Good

afternoon. We're ready to proceed, Mr. McAfee, with

yeuf next witness.

MR. MCAFEE:. Yés, Your anor. Respondent
calls Gerald Hentges, H-e-n-- Well, we'll have him.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGEf Good
afternoon. |

MR. HENTGES: Good afternoon.

GERALD HENTGES,

"called as a witness by counsel for the Respondent,

being first duly sworn by the Certified Shorthand
Reporter,‘was examined and testified as follows:

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Qkay. Just
with the convention we usé ig a person first states
their name, and then if you would spell your last
name slowly so the cou%t réﬁorter gets 1t correct.

THE WITNESS: Yes. My name's Gerald
Hentges, H-e-n-t-g-e-s. | |

THE ADMINESTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Thank you.
Okay. Mr. McAfee, whenever you're ready.

MR. MCAFEE: Thank you.

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. McAFEE:

Q. Mr . Hentges, would you please tell us your
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address.

A. I live at 9792 Colby Avenue in Clive, iéwa,
50325.

0. ‘And could you give us the éddress of your

place of employment, 1f you would, please?
A. It's 600 Southwest Seventh Street,

Des Moines, Iowa, 50--

_Qr And-- I'm sorry. Go ahead.

A. 50309,

Q.. And who are you enmployed by?

A. Terraceon Consuitants, Incorpcorated.

Q.. Mr. Hentges, let's start with your
backgrocund, your educétional background. Where did

you go to college?

A, I received a bachelor's degree in hydrology
from the University of A:izoha;.

Q. And did you dq any other post-graduate or
any postwgfaduate work?

A. Yes. I did one year of post-graduate work
at the University of Arizona in hydrology. |

Q. Wﬁat did you do after your_college and
post-graduate studies?

A, "I worked for consulting firms. I first went
to work for E.A. Hickok & ASsociates in Minneapolis,

Minnesocta. Later transferred to Des Moines. Hickok
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& Associates was purchase@ by Montgomery Watsoen. And
I started at Hickok in 1993——excaselmemm1983, and I
took employment at Terracon in 1989, where I've been
ever since.

0. What is your c@rrent position at Terracon?

AL I am a senior project manager and senior
associate. _

Q. What does that-- Well, you say senior
project manager. Is that~- What is youf title.
besides senior préject managér? Do yvou have a ﬁitl@?r

Al Sehiof hydrologist.

Q. Could you tell us, briefly, what your job
duties entail as a senior hydrologist? |

A. Well, we perform consulting activities for
various cliénts who need assessm@nts of--for surface
and grouﬁdwater quality, volume. I work a great deal
in wetland delineation and mitigation ahd design,
solid waste facilities, and RCRA in hazardous Qast@
sites.

Q. Could your dﬁties as a senior hydrologiét
deal with--and you'ré speaking to a nonscientist

here, but do they deal with both surface and

groundwater?
A. Yes.
%
0. ‘ Have you testified in other cases as an
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expert?
Al Yes. I've been an expert witness in about
teﬁ cases.

Q. As a hydrologist?

A. Yes.
Q. This case, as you're fully aware, deals

guite a bit with computer modeling as it rélates to
water movement, I'11 call it. Could vyou fell us what
experience you have in that area?

A. I've conducted a great deal of'surface and
groundwatef modeling for both flow and quality for
varicus types of-projects; agricultural, mine land
projeéts, contaminant fate and transport in well
fields ér at disposal facilities.

Q. And in doing SO what\type of models,
compufer models, have yoﬁ used nv?

A, Well, I've used all number of models, I

'suppose. A comprehensive list is a little tough,

but, you know, a lot of the groundwater models like
MODFLOW and Rescue, the Well Head Protection nge;
surface water models for flow,’TR—SS, TR—ZG, the HEC
series, HEC-RAS, which is a river analysis Softwaré;
and then pesticide root zone model, PRIM, CREAMS/
GLEAMS, HAS, which is hydraulic assessment éf surface

water and chemical guality. It's kind of hard to
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remember them all, but a wide variety.
, Q. ‘Are you aware of the two éomputer
models--two of the computer models used in this case,
SWAT and APEX?
A. Yeg. I'm——I'm familiar with them. I
haven't run them on a project, but I've loocked at
them. I know SWAT is én outgrowth of earlier models,

like a lot of these models are, and I believe it has

‘its roots in the TR series. It's been expanded to

.inciude some fate and transport.

APEX was developed from the EPIC series,
which I did have a copy of at one time and rén. And
it was essentially a sediment transpdrt model when it
first came out. So I'm familiar with both SWAT and
APEX.

MR. McAFEE: Your Eonor, I'Would_move to
have this witness admitﬁed——designated, excuse me; as
an expert on the iééues in this case.

MR. RYAN: I'm not sure what the issués in
this case are. Can we be a little more specific,
please?

MR. McAFEE: Well, I believe ouﬁ prehearing
exchange was falrly speCific.te reply fo the

allegations in this case regarding water and

pollutant movement and specifically computer
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modeling.

MR. RYAN: So if I may understand, the

motion is to have this witness recognized as .an

éxpert in pollution modeling and-- It's not clear to
me what 5e's seeking to have him designated as.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW'JUDGE: Weil, it's
clear to me, and based on what Mr. McAfee,juét said,
this witness ig so designated.

S50 you caﬁ procéed, Mr. McAfée,

MR. McAFEE: Thank you:

BY MR. MCAFEE:

Q. Mr. Hentges, at various times here during

your testimony we'll be reviewing a report that you

‘have filed in this case, and it is designated as

Respondent's Exhibit 8.
And you might want to turn to that in the--
It would be the small binder there with the green
coVér. |
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Yes.
BY MR. McAFEE:
Q. Yes. Do you see Exhibit 8 there,

Mr. Hentges?

A. Yes, sir.
0. Is that your‘document?
Al Yes, it is.
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Q. I guess I want to startlwithwmbefore we get
into your report, I want to start with éxactly what
you did when you started work on this case.
A. I read the complaint, the file that embodied
the complaint, and I reviewed a couple of sets of
thtographs, T believe March 2008, and I locked at

the fish studies and the groundwater model.

Q. By the groundwater model, are you referring
to the--

A, I--

Q. What are you referring to?

A.© I'm sorry. I misspoke. The APEX model.

The‘SWAT and APEX model for the feedlot.

Q. Are you referring to a document that was

prepared by ancther expert in this case? Is that

what you're referring to?

A. That's correct.

Q.' And wé'll get to that h@re‘aft@r'a bit, but
for purposes of the record, that's been identified as
Exhibit 43.

And you reviewed that document; is that

right?
A. Yes, sir.

0. Did you visit the site of Lowell Vos'

feedlot in this case?
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A, Yes, I did.
Q. Turning now to your report, which is Exhibit
8, in vour "Evaluation" in paragraph 2.0, let's start
with~—‘ And maybe we should start with correcting a

typo. How's that? At the end of the first

paragraph-- Well, could you read the last sentence,
please.
A. "In my opinion, there are significant

incopstancies in the photographsg that EPA élaims show
manure runoff>from the feedlot,” and "inconstanéies"
is supposed tb be "inéonsisténcies."

. Okay. Thank you. Tell us what observations
you made that you state in that first péragraph. And
ilet's just start with giving us a little bit of a
summary, and then we'll get into more details;

A. Well, vou know, 1in the evéluation I Eoned
at the inspector's reporté and the photographs, and
they showed, you know, seasonal rills and gulliesg
that‘app@axed té‘me in the photographs fo be.plowed
through and planted on an annual basis.

The areas described as channels, you know,

to me appeared to also drain, you kndw,.zarger row

crop areas, and they were more rill and erosional
type. And several of the photographs indicated that

they depicted manure in these drainageways, and,
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frankly, I couldn't see it.

0. Okay. Well, let's go right to that
document~-or exhibit that embodies thosé photos, and
that is Complainant's Exhibit 28.

MR. McAFEE: And may I aﬁprdach, Your Honor?
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW‘JUDGE:' Yes, you may.
BY MR. McAFEE:

Q. Do you have Exhibit 28 the:e in front of
you, Mr. Hentges?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. I just want to go through this, and Efil
pretty much let you lead mé threugh how you have
reviéwed these photos. And we dén't need to go

through each one. I'11l let you take a look at them,

and then why don't vou testify when you get to one

that we need to také a look at some of these
erosional rills and gullies.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: And are you
talking, counsel, about beginning on the third page,
where 1t says "Photo ﬁo; inz

MR. McAFEE: - Yes, Your Honor.

| THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: And so,
Mr. Hentges, it will helpful fto me if-- You know,
counsel has asked you to start to go through these

photos, right, so if YOu see something that you want
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to comment on consisteﬁt with the guestion from
Mr. McAfee, then it will help us all out if you say,
"T'm lodking at Photo No., and this is what I see" Cr
don't see, whatever the case may be, all right?
| THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Don't feel
rushed. You take YOur time going ﬁhrough each-photo.'
A. Well, I'm lookiné at Phctdgraph‘B that |
indicates it's a close-up of rundff from‘the feedlot,
and yet 1t appeared to me that this funoff likely was
from a large area, and it was--although it was in the
direction of the peﬁs,.l wasn't guite certain how it
was determined to be runoff from the feediot. And it

appeared that it likely embodied more runoff from
larger areas than just there.
BY MR. MCAFEE:

Q0. Mf. Hentges, if I could ask you a question

about that, what would you need--what information

would you need to know if that was, in fact, runoff

from the'feediot pens?

A. Well, in order to determine‘if the runoff
was from the pens, water dquality sample would likely
contain elevated nutrients, and that would be one way
to determine it. |

Q. And are you aware of any such sample in this

BPETERSEN COURT REPCRTERS
317 Sixth Avenue, Sulte 606
Des Moines; IA 50309-4155

(515} 243-6596




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

23

24

25

1134

case?
A, No, I'm not.
Q. Okay.
A. Photograph 5 indicateé it's a photo standing

in the'northWest corner of the feedlot facing west
and references channelized flow, and althocugh I do
see a rill, it also-appears‘that during the grewing
season this area is pléwed and planted, so I'm not
sure I'd cail it a channel. |

Q.l Okav.

A. Photo 6 indicates that it's a.photc standing
in the northwest corner cf the feedlot facing
northeast, and it documents fléw path once water
leaves the pens.

And it's somewhat related to No. 5. Tt
occurs to me on the location map, 5 pointed génerally
to the west_while_6 pointed generally to the east.

And in Photo 6 it indicates channelized flow
leaving the pen, yet.vaas wondering why a picfure
wasn't done in the middle. If there was channelized
flow leaving the pen, I would.haﬁe liked to have seen
it from outside the pen to connect these tw§ areas.

Q. Andg wifh what vou have available, are
you~-—-can you connect those two areas?

A. Well, it's--it's difficuit. I mean, I see
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kind of a berm around the edge of the fence line, and
I can't quite tell if it extendﬁ along the west siﬁe
of the fence line. I see it to the north and I see
an electric fence kind of to the very northwest. S0
but, no, 1 thoughf there was a disconnect there,
and--

Q. Okay.

A. Tt didn't seem to be telling me‘what the
caption was saying or showiag.me what ihe'caption was
telling me. |

Photograph—-- I'ﬁ S0rYY. Photograph 14
indicates'that_thé photo shows a flow pafh fromlPen
No. 5 and that the water flow's approximately 100

feet from a terrace where it overflows a fterrace, and

- then the photograph right after that, 15, shows a

fiow path on the other side of the terrace. And I

guess there the disconnect was if a terrace is

‘breached here, I would have liked to have seen a

picture of that.
:Q. Okav.
A. And I éuess my point 1s that water, you
kncw, can collect along the base of a terrace and
still creata a flow path or an erfosional gully or

riil. If the photograph was wanting to show a

preached terrace, I guess I would have liked to have
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seeﬁ a picture of the terrace itself.
Q. . Okay. Shall we move onr to the other photos,

then, unless you have more to add to that one?

‘A. Photograph 23--

Q. Yes.

A. --the caption indicates that photo shows
manure solids within a channélized flow path. It's a

bit of a close-up to see a channelized flow path.

This appears to be one of the rills on the
right side of the photo,.and*yet I really--1I lo&k at
this and it looked more like, you know, sediment,
feed, you know, potentially some sort of feed. I
didn‘t.nécessarily recognize 1t as manure.

And then Photograph 24,.it.also indicates
that the material is manufe, but, yourknow, it looks
like-silage to me_or‘some sort of feed. It may be
some bedding métexial.

Photograph 25 shows the same material.

T believe that's it. You know, several of
the photés I skipped over indicate there's
channelized\fiow paths, and in some instances I can
see them, and some, you know, tThey loock more like
seasonal gully/rill erosion. It's obvious as you
move farther away from the feediot and closer‘to the

unnamed fributary thait there was some defined flow
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occurring. But that's all the coﬁments I have on the
photographs.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Thank you.

BY MR. McAFEE:

Q. Mr. Hentges, in summary of these photos,
which—-- What date were théy taken?

A. March 11th, 2008.

0. Is there anything in these photos that

indicates to you that a pollutant from the Lowell Vos

feedlot reached an unnamed--the unnamed tributary?

A No.
Q0.  And why do you say that?
A, Well, I just don't see any evidéncé. I-—i

see erosional rilis and gullies that appear to be
plowed through and planted each season. I sese
ﬁateriai that's identified as manure that |
doesn't~-that I can't tell if it's manure or not. It
doesn't look like it to me. And in some cases the
material iooks like~-like bedding or feed.

0. Now I want To move to andther set_of photos,
which-- Well, I need to back up. At the time you
were_able to prepare your report, Exhibit 8, was this
the extent of the photos you had to review-- Let me
rephrase that.

You reviewed these photos as part of the
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prehearing exchange, correct?
AL Yes.

‘Q. Okay. Were there any other photos you

‘looked at in the prehearing exchange that you were

abie to View that you felt were importaﬁt towards
reaching your conclusions?
A. Théré was another set of photos, I thought

they Gccurﬁed earlier, and I-~-

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: And,
Mr. McAfee, you're referring to the preheéring
exchange provided not by vou but by EPA?

MR. McAFEE: Yes. In Complainant's.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE; A moment ago

you said Exhibit 8. You meant to say Exhibit 28, did

"you not?

MR. McAFEE: Your Honor, and I'm sorry for
skipping back and forth, when I said Exhibit 8,
that's Respondent;s Exhibit 8, wﬁich is his report.

THE AﬁMINISTRATIVE iAW JUDGE : Oh.

MR. McAFEE: I apolpgize. I'11 try to
qualify the exhibit I'm referring to.

THE ADMINISTRATEVE LAW JUDGE: Thank you.

THE WITNESS: And in the Exhibit 24 there

were Some photographs I looked at. But théy didn't—--
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'BY MR.. MCAFEE:

G. That wouid be Complainant's Exhibit 247
Al Compiéinant's Exhibit 24, just a few
photographs that really didn't affeéf my opinion one
way or the cther.
Q. Okay. Now, follcowing your review of the
complainant's prehearing exchange, were you provided
with additional photos to take a look at in the

supplemental--Complainant's supplemental prehearing

exchange?

A, Yes, there were some additional photos
submitted in the supplemental exchange that I
reviewed.

0. And, now, again, that would be after you had

prepared this report that is Respondent's Exhibit 8;

is that--
A, That's correct.
Q. Well, let's take a look at those photos, and

realizing that they are not part--you didn't have
them in time to form your opinicon in this report, but
we'll take a look at them and see if you have

anything to add there. That is Complainant's Exhibit

42,

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Probably

going to be in a different notebook. I don't want to
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steer you‘wrong here, but I think it's in a separate
hotebook. | |

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. I believe I found
it.
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Okay. Did
you find tﬁe right one?
THE WITNESS: I am not;—
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Let's gd off
the record.
(Discussion‘off the rebord.)
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Mr. McAfee.
MR. McAFEL: Thank you, Youf Honor.
BY MR. McAFEE:
Q. Mr..Hentg@s, do you_havé Cémpléinant‘s
Exhibit 42 in front of you?
A. Yes, sir, I do.
0. And have you had a Chance.to'review-these
photos prior to today?
A. Yes, I have.

0. Okay. And let's take a look at these.

‘Again, I'11 kind of leave it up to you how you want

to look at them and make comments, but let's take a
look at Photo 1. What does that show to you?
A. Well, it shows an erosional area where

surface water is moving down through the cornfield.
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Q. Do you see the date on these photes?
A. Yeg, 1 do.
0. And--

s

March 11th, 2008.

MR. McAFEE: Ma? we go off the reccfd for a
minute, Your Honor? | |

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Yes.
(Discussion off the record.)

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Now, during

"an off-the-record discussion there was--a point was

raised about whether EPA's Exhibit 42, Complainant's
Eﬁhibit 42, incorrectly lists dates associated with
various photogtaphs in that exhibit.. |

Those photographs run 1 through 12, and it‘é
my understanding that the date.that's listed for each.

of those photos of March 1lth, 2008, is not correct,

that it's actually a date in July of that year?

MR..BREEDLOVE: July 1st, Your Honor.

THE ADMENISTRAfIVE LAW JUDGE: July 1st,
2008; ‘That was Mr. Breedlove speaking.

And so you agree, Mr. Breediove, that tﬁat‘s
the correct date that should be associated with those
photos?

MR. BREEDLOVE: ‘We do; Your Honor.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Ckay.
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Anyvthing else about thét; Mr. McAfee?

MR. McAFEE: No, Your Honor. Thank you.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Okavy. S0
you're aware, Mr. Hentges, that these photogfaphs
have an incorrect date listed now?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Ckay. Go
ahead, Mr. McAfee.

MR. McAFEE: Thank you.
BY MR. McAFEE:

Q. M?. Hentges, given the date that these
photos were takenlof July 1 of 2008, any weather
conditions that you're aware of that would explain
some of these photos?

A. Yes. I--1 believe that likely because of
the amount of precipitation that we've had in the
area this year that that likély explains thé size of

the erosional gullies in Photograph 1.

0.  And would that same be true of Photograph 27
A, Yes. Yes, 1t WOuld.
Q. Does it appear that these areas have been

farmed through, like you testified to on the March 11
photos?
A.  It appears as though they have and that the

erosion has just washed some of the plants out and
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likely eroded away others.

0. Would you please turn to Photo 5. What do
you see in that photo? |

L. In Pﬁoto 5, it appears to be a wet spot
wh@re_water was retained, you know, likely due to
some erosional process. that created a depressioﬁ and
standing water‘sat'there as it seeped and evaporated

for a long period of time, relatively long.

Q. Do you see a green color there?

A Yes, I do.

Q. What do vyou believe that is?

A Tt appears to be an algae of some sort.

Q. Would you expect to see an algae or that
sort of thing in an area like thig in an Iowa
éorﬁfield?

A. Yes. I don't see why notl. If the waier was
there any léngth of time, these type of ocrganisms

tend to dgrow.

Q. Do you see any flies in that photo?

A. No, sir.

o. Do you see anything that looks like manure?
A, No.. No, I do not.

0. If you were fto try and determine 1if there

were any manure present in that dark-colored area,

what would you do?

PETERSEN COURT REPORTERS
317 Sixth Avenue, Suite 606
Des Moines, IA 50309-4155

{515) 243-6596




10
11
12
13
14
15

16

17

18

19
.zo
21
22
23
24

25

1144
A. Well, if the moist material here was manure,
I'd collect a sample and have it analyzed for

nutrient components that would be associated with

manure.

Q. Can we‘go to Photo 6, please?

A. Yes.

Q.‘ What do you see there?

A. I--1 generally . see the same thing as Photo
-5, érosional feature in the cornfield that's-~- I

assume this is still pointing down gfade, although it
seems to be--there if appears to be flattenihg out,
sé if's, perhaps, Qater ig moving slowly.

There is a wel spot in ﬁhe southern--or in
the loﬁ@r portion of the photograph. it's harder to
tell if this is algae, but appears‘there might‘be
some.

Q. . Okay. The next photo would be Photo 7; is
that correct?

A. Yes. And I see similar things as Photos &
and 6, although 1t appears there's still‘some
standing water in these depressions.

Q. Enything else?

A. There's a notebook there for scale. I den't
‘reéall if there was in the other énes.

No. I mean, this photo perhaps shows a
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litﬁle more clear‘picture that last year, in part of
this rill, there was cofn planted and 1t likely cane
up’, because-thé stalk looks fully developed, and it
tends to support the conclﬁsion-thaf, as wet as it}s
been, these erosional features are larger. |

0.  Let's move to the next, Photo 8. If you

don't have—-

A. Yes.
Q. Go ahead.
A.  Well, here, obviously the slope’s decreased.

It's fiétter. There appears to be a bit-of a wider
area affected. And likely, based on what I know from
this general.area, it's likeiy wider, flatter, and a
bit more flow coming.in'from what‘would be the

southeast areas of the field.

0. - Okay. Photo 97
A You have to-- Photo 9 shows generally the
same thing. Again, a lot of last year's corn stubble

that grew here, but a wet spot, you know, indicaﬁing
that it's either & low area or some sort of a spriﬁg.
And fhefe’s some standing water here also.

Q;' Photo 107

A. This shows flowing water in areas that were
gbviously planted last year but either not this year

or else the crops didn't come up. But it does show
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fiowing water, which the other photographs didn't.

Q. And I believe we have Photos 11 and 12,
which show a little different feature regarding the--

| AL Yes. Photo 11 shows a head cut'where, as
watef moves down this system, it's eroding backward
up the hill.

Q. Do you know where this was taken?

A. Based on the labeling and my und;rstanding,
it was righf at the confluence of the ercsional
drainagéway and .the unnamed tributéry.

Q. | Is this something you would expect to see
during;minfan Iowa corﬁfi@ld after a year like Iowa'S 
exp@rienced weather-wise? |

A. Yes. I mean, it's not uncommon where, when

surface water runoff volumes increase for streams,

rivers, and even these drainageways that are normally
dry, to seek a new equilibrium, and it does that by
eroding in the upgradient direction toward the top of

the slope, from the bottom toward the top.

'.Q. and then would you take a look at Photo 12..
A. Yes.

.Q. What is that?
A. I.believe that's the unnamed tributary.
Q. Do you see any evidence of manure or any

other feedlot pollutant in that photo?
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A. No, sir.

Q. In any Qf these photos, Mr. Hentges} did yoﬁ
see anything'that looked to yvou to be a feedlot
pollutant or manure?

A. No, T did not.

0. I need to backtrack for a second,

Mr. Hentges.

MR. McAFEE: May I approach, Your Honor?

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Yes, you may.

MR. McAFEE: I'm going to hand the witness
Exhibit R-16. This is one of the respondent's photos
that we marked on, Your Honor, during previous
witness examination.

‘THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Yes. Do I
have an R-16 yet, though? No.

MR. RYAN: Just for élarification, what was
the original of this? We don't have copies yet.

MR. McAFEE: May we go off the record?

THE ADMENISTRRTIVE LAW JUDGE: Yés; We can
go off the record.

(Digscussion off the record.)
BY MR. McAFEE:

0. Mr. Hentges, I've handed you what has been
marked as Exhibit R-16, whigh:is a photo that vou've

previously reviewed, but it has been-- Do you see
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that it has an irregularly shaped circle on 1it?
A. Yes.
Q. Mr. Hentges, a previous witness in thislcase
circled that area and testified that.he believed‘that

foam was related to the Vos feedlot, caused by feediot

runoff. Could you review that and give us your
opinion?

A. Well,.z guess my opinion would be that a lot
of things cause foam. I'm having a little troubleff

I méan, if you look closely, it appears there's snow
on the ground. BAnd the date's been covered; The
date of the photo's been covered up on my cCoOpy by
three~hole punch.

o. Mr. Hentges, I'm sorry to interrupt. T can
state the record will reflect that the date on this
photo is March 11, 2008.

A. And, you know, I guess just there appears to
b@.a grade.drop here, a hydraulic chaﬁge in the'slope
of the channel, and I would have a hardltime saying
that the foam isn'tewién't just simply that.

Q.‘ .90 yoﬁ see any--other than foam, do you sese
éhy eﬁidence that would lead you to.believe'it's
manure or related to the feedlot? |
| A. No.

Q. and I think vour testimony is that, based on
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"the foam alone-- I mean, what determination can you

make bpased on the fcam alone?

A. I-~1 don't think you can just based on a
picture of foam. It's inconclusive.
Q. What information would you need to make a

determination as to whether there 1s manure or a
feedlot contaminant present there?

A. Well, you'd collect a sample and have it
analyzed for, you know, parameters consistent with
what you feel the cause is.

Q. . Okay. Mr. Hentges, we've now looked at, 1
believe, the rélevanﬁ photos in this case. Do.you
know of any others?

| A. No, I do not.
Q. Based on all the photos you've reviewed, I

just want to make sure that we're clear, have you

"seen anything that-- Well, based on the photos

you've seen, what conclusionsg can you make?

A. Essentially; reviewing.the photos, I am noﬁ
seeing any evidence that manure was in chaqnéls or
waterways at this site.

Q. Okay. Now, moving on in your report,

Mr. Hentges, which is Réspondent's.Exhibit 8, the
next paragtaph, what do you discuss there?

A. Well, I indicate that models were used to
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evaiuate the number of unauthorized discharges and
that that evaluation indicated that those models, you
know, looked at surface water runcff, sédimentrand
nutrient movement from the feedlot facility to the
unnamed tributaryl
| And I state that those models, ycu know, are

generally used and were initially developed more for

_plahning purposes to evaluéte the variable landscapes

and farm management practices and that the literature
references indicate that they were developed to

evaluate the long~term cropping systems and land use

management practices and were essentially planning

models with a process output.

.There was some indication also in the
literature tﬁai although they were good long—ferm
predictors, they did not necessarily represent single
events, and I indiéated that,.and/ox—— Well, I'm
indicating that essentially neither appropriate model
was used.

Q. Okay. Mr. Hentges, based on your experi@nce‘
with modeling, what should have been done in this
case to at least make a-- Well, what should have
been done in this case with computer modeling that
would have be@n——inlyour'opinibn, would have made it

a more useful tocl?
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A. Well, a computer model needs to be
calibrated with field observations.
Q. What do you mean by calibrated?
lA. That--that the éalibration efforts is part
of a vélidation step where predicted measurements are
compared +o measurements observed in the field and
then the error between the two is minimized.

The general éalibration method is to--is to
look at graphs of the data, just a simple X~Y
ordinate graph with, say, ¥, the vertical scale on
the left, would sayw;perhéps be observed or predicted
values from the model, and the ordinate, the X value,
would be values observed in the field.

And what this graph Should show is nearly a
straight one-to-one line at a 45-degree angle éut of
the origin.. That wéuld indicate that ﬁh@ model |
predictions aié matching what's seen in the field.

Now, oftentimes wé simply have to miﬁimize
that error, and statistical analyses are done, and é
95 percent confidence interval or the appropriate
confidence'interval is determined, most often 95.
percent. And once you're within that_predictive
capability; your model has been calibrated, and now
you're able to make predictions both intc the past

and the future.
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Q. Mr. Hentges, there's been testimony in this
case by Ms. Doty, who-- Do you know who Ms. Doty is8?
Al No, sir. I--I understand--I recognize the

name asAthe author of the model that was conducted in
this case.

0. And we'll take a look here in.a minute, but
for the record, that's Exhibit 43, and you've had a
chance to review that document?

A; Yes, sir.

0. In her testimony, she stated that she did

not believe calibration was necessary for the models

she used in this case. I believe that was her
" testimony. Do you agree?
A.  Well, no, I do not.
. Can you tell us why?
L. Well, based cn the literature reviewed and

+he studies conducted on these models, SWAT and APEX,

it appears that researchers and other hydrologists

have done botﬁ; they've calibrated the médel
rigorously and used it for simulations and
predictions, and they'vé not calibrated it but Just
simply used 1t for policy management decisions, such
as land use, cropping patterns.

And so I saw the—model ugsed in both véins,

and I guess the concern I had was that 1in order to
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use a fate and transport model as proof that

something happened, you would need to calibrate it to

data observed in the field.

0.  What else would you have liked to have seen
done toc improve the‘use of modeling iﬁ this caée?

A. Well, collections of soil and-water'data to
calibrate the fate and transport, as well as water
level measurements in the tributary to calibrate the
runoff_model.‘ |

0. . Is validation the same thing as éalibration?
That t@rﬁ was used by Ms. Doty.

A. You know, validatibn's a more overall t@rm;-
and it's often called, you know, confirmation or
verification. The bottom line ig the model needs to
be a trué and accurate predictor.

The wvalidation steps that are typically
followed are you validate that the model you're using
will provide you the answer you need; you've matched
the appropriate model for the appropriate problem.

The other wvalidaticn step we usﬁally go

through is -to make sure. that the mathematical

equations are a sound representation of a process .
we're trying to model, and that means that the
equations and algorithms have been tested and work.

The third thing in validation is that the
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cutput frqm the model compares directlylto what's
observed in the field, and that's the calibration
step, where certailn parameters are determined to--are
varied until the data matches up. |

Q. Ms. Doty testified that she had validated
the models in this case. Can you determine that from

her report?

A, No, I cannot.
Q. Ms. Doty also used the term several times of
'"sensitivity analysis." Could you tell us what that

term means Lo you?

A. Well, sensitivity analysis is part of the
calibration process where you determine that certain
input parameters are--the model is sensitive to, so
if there'é minor‘movemehts in their wvalue, the model
reacts. And then you define the,insenSitive
pafameters, where you can vary them over a wider
range, you know, relative to what they are and they
don't seem to have much impact.

.A key component of that is to make sure that
you check senéitivity at all levels of the expected
output; therefqre, fate and transport of a chemical
or mineral at low flows, sensitiﬁity ghould be |
checked for that as well as those same transport

values at high flows.
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0. . and can you tell if that was done in this
case?
A. It appears 1t was not because 1 do not see

any data that would‘provide the opportunity to
calibrate this model ét all.

0. Is sensitivity ahalysis by itself enough to
perform a validation? Or maybe I'm mixing the terms
up.

Al | Right. No. I mean, pe;haps a little.‘ I
mean, thé.validation is‘reaily a three-gtep process
that includes calibration‘ Wﬁat I'm not seeing is
the calibratioﬁ step.- That_would regquire data
collected in the-fieid and a .comparison of that data
to what the_model predicts.

0. Ms.'Dbty, in her testimony, also used the

term "ground truthing," I believe in response to a

question from me. What does that term mean to you?

A. Well, in general, when you're running
natural process models, and particularly for storm

water runoff, you have to make a lot of assessménts

on coefficients and indices for land use slope. To

ground truth means to go out and look and see if
those assumptions you made are correct.
Q. Now, you haven't héd the benefit of being

here for Ms. Doty's testimony, but the record will
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reflect that she waé present on July lst whén the
photos that are Complainant's Exhibit 42 were taken
and that she walked that general aﬁea down that, as
you've called it, a gully or--a rill or gully,
wﬁatéver you've testified to as it is. She walked
that area.

| And I'm sure-- You know, and I don'lt want
fo misrepresent her testimony. I think she testified
she Qas in part of the feedlot and maybe was in.a few
other areas fairly close to this gully that day.
Based on what I just told you, and assuming
that I've accurately tepresented the reqord, does
that qua}ify as gréﬁnd truthing?

A. Well, I'm sure that by visiting-the areafshé
had a greater confidence in some of the values she
may have picked for certain parts of the model,lbut
it would have--on a contaminént fate and transport
model coupled with a runoff model, it would have
been-~there would have‘been very few inputs you céuld
réally ground truth. And not that they aren't
impdrtamt, put it is a process that just doesn't
cover.everything; |

0. Okay..

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Let 'me just--

Don't lose that thcught, okay? Just yoﬁ said a

PETERSEN COURT REPORTERS
317 Sixth Avenue, Sulte 606
Des Moines, IA 50309-4155

(515) 243-6596




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1157

*couple of times, Mr. Hentges, the expression

contaminant fate and transport?
THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Are you-

‘Saying f-a~-t-e, fate?

THE WITNESS: Yes. Yes.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Contaminate
fate and transport?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sirf

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Can you just
explain to me what you mean by-- -f get contéminant
transport. Whét‘s contaminant fate?

THE WITNESS: Well, fate is how the

~concentration of a compound or a mineral changes over

time due to the natural processes--
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Okay.
THE WITNESS: --it's under.
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: So it's a

common~sense definition of fate, like our fate. We

 al1 know what our fate i1s eventually, right?

THE WITNESS: Yes. Yes.
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: All right.
Go ahead, Mr. McAfee.

MR. McAFEE: Thank you.
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BY MR. McAFEE:

Q. M. Hentges, have you had the oppoftﬂnity.to
review any of the published literature regarding the
models used by Ms. Doty in this case?

A, Yes, I have. I've looked at several.

0. And could‘you briefly tell‘us, or noﬁ so
briefly, if you chcose, but could you tell us about
that, pléasé? |

A. Well, as best as I cém remember, I reviewed
model reports with SWAT and APEX completed by
Williamsg in '96, Ramanarayanaﬁ érlRamanarayanan in
1996, Gass, Vadas and Sharpley, Saleh.

And I found a variety of--of goals that
those researchers wanted. Severéi had actually

collected extensive data, run the mod@i, calibrated

"it, were quite happy with the results.

In other instances, the model was used just
simply to determine the range of reduction in
nutrients or sedimenﬁ that could be expecfed-from
variable land management practices, such as filtér;r
strips, or check structgres in channels, buffer
strips, things like that.

Q. In this literature you reviewed,.did you see
anything that supports the use of:the model as it Wasg

used in this case to attempt to show that a discharge
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or a pollutant from a feedlot‘such as Lowell Vos'

actually reached a water of the United States?

A. No.
0. Can vou briefly explain what you mean by no?
A. Well, ves. Itll expand. You know, in

general, simulation modeling fer'research or policy
decisions has to establish credibility, and it needs
to do that so that there's a degree of belief ih the
validity of the results.

So in the cases where I saw researchers just
simply looking at, you know, what would be the
décrease in ocutput of nitrcgen of this watershed if
these better manageﬁent practibeé were installed, you
¥now, then the data provided was; you know, wide
ranges, 7 to 41 percent reddction, things like that.
They weren't=--they didn‘tlclaim that théir numbers
were exéct or that they were reproducibl@..

Where other researchers and individuals used
the model to Specifically measure this fate and
ﬁransport of the contéminant, they collected
extensive data, and in some cases tThey modified the
equations'in the model to fit their area and they
provided‘observed valﬁes in the field with predicted
values in the model and they provided that

calibration documentation.

PETERSEN COURT REPORTERS
317 Sixth Avenus, Suite 606
Des Moines, IA b0309-4155

(515) 243-6596




10
11

12

13

14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

24

25

1160
So I saw none of that with the EPA nmodel,

and yet it~-it seemed to have conclusions and 
statements that the Clean Water Act was violated.

Q. End by EPA model, are you referring fc the
model run by Ms. Doty?

A.  Yes. : ' .

0.  And by model, are you referring to both of
them, APEX and SWAT? | |

A. Yes.

Q. Ckay. Mr.'Hentges, did you actually run

APEX or SWAT models in this case?

A, No, sir.
Q. .Why\not?
A.  Well, there was no data available to

calibrate the model, so 1t didn't really seem to make
sense. |

Q. Would you havé the ability to run APEX or
SWAT if you désired to?

A. Yes.

Q. What 1'd liké to do now, Mr. Heﬁtges, is

please turn to Complainant's Exhibit 43. That is

Ms. Doty's model--report. Excuse me.
A. Yes.
Q. And is this document marked-~- What i§ the

date on it?
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A. The date is Bugust 1lth, 2008.

Q. Is this the second répbrt you reviewed from
Ms. Doty?

A. Yes.

0. And, briefly, could you tell the differences

between the two reporté?

A. Just barely. The differences were,‘I
believe, that Table 2 had different vaiues than
had-~in the éecdmd répbrt than it did the firsf

report, and I believe Table 3 was pulled out of an

‘appendices, pulled it forward, actually, in the

report. And Table 3 is a lot shorter than it was in
the first report. In the sé;ond repprt it's shorter
than it was in the first report.

Q. Did Ms.‘Doty's concluéion—wpardon
me~-—conclusions change between the two reports?

A. Not significantly. I;—I believe the only
change was that less discharge ingtances were
alleged.

0. . Well, let's go through the report and we can
take a look at it. And I would like to kind of Jjust
go~--— We're not going to ‘go through it line by line,.
unless you feel the need to. I'd’iike to start with,
though, another general question. Did you have any

concerns or difficulty in reviewing the report?
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A. Well, yes. I--I thought it was difficult to
review in particular because the inputs and outputs
weren't well defined. I think a lct of the general

inputs relative to precip and land use and runoff

curve numbers were there, but a lot of the more

~detailed specific inputs for the APEX model were not.

So it was difficult to follow in the way it was
wriften 

The other thing was the data that is listed
in Appendix B, the discharge data for SWAT that's on
a daily basis, appeared fight of £ thé bat to have
éome rather high numbers, particularly in the winter
months. |

And I was mapping this trend and charting it
out and checking the températur@s, and it Jjust
appeared that there was a large amount of runoff
during a period where I--the climatological data
indicated that it should have been frozen ground
conditions and not much runoff would occur.

There were large swings in the discharge
data for SWAT listed in Appendix 1-B.

And another concern I had in general was,

oh, the graphs in Appendix 2-B thalt were supposed to

be the same data didn't gquite match, and so the graph

of the data énd the table of the data'wasn't
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matching, and there was gome——ﬁhere was repefition of
data in the tables in Appendix B across the :eacheS.

So I was kind of having froubie
understanding where it was going. Typically in
hydrologic model output, when reaches are laid out
like this, the data is cﬁmulative ocr it's separate,
but this just seemed to be-exactly the same.

lQ. I don't mean £0 intérrﬁpt you, but,
Mr. Hentges, there's been teétimoay ih this case that
Appendix B anq Appendix B-1 W@re,.in fact, in error.

Does that help ycu understand any of the problems you

‘were having?

A. Yes. Yes. Because although they were
differeﬁt, similaf outliers in the discharges
were—--were seen 1in the-graphs.in Appendix B-2.

I guess one c¢f the other concerns I had was
that on Figure 9 in Complainant‘s_ﬁxhibit 43-—-

Q. Okay. Mr. Hentges, we can go to that.

That, in‘your exhibit there, is page 25 thaﬁ's
handwritten at the bottom. Go ahead.

A, Yes. I‘sae. And I understand that--the
boundaries of the model area, but the flow paths,

particularly off the feédlot, which would be the

lower left-hand corner, the southwest corner of the

feedlot, in an area marked A, showed a flow path down
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to a terrace, and then it éeemed like that flow path
generally went uphill back to the east and south and
ﬁhenlflew arournd the terrace.“

And I noticed this because this is about
where the photographs indicated the terrace was
breached but didn't show a photo of it, so that was a
gquestion. |

Q. Mr. Hentges, while you're on the figures
fhere, iet's go back to Figure 5, which is page 21,
qnd.l believe you just touched upon this in your
testimony, but I'd like to expiore.it a little more,
if we could.

In Figure 5, what is this?

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: 'Yoﬁr witness
ié not on the page yet.

MR, McAFEE: Oh, I'm sorry.

THE WITNESS: And I'll have to apologize.

"THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: 'Let's go off
the record.

THE WITNESS: I don't have a page 21 in
this. |

THFE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Or you missed
it; Let's go off the record.

{Discussion off the record.)
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BRY MR. McAFEE:

Q. We're now back on the record. Do ybu have
page 21 of Respondent's Exhibit--excuse
me--Complainant's Exhibit 437

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. You briefly touched upon.this earlier
in your ﬁestimony, but I want to télk about‘itra
little more. What does this exhibit represent or
this page of the exhibit?

A. Well, it shows the digital elevatioh data
that was brought into the model, and it
delineates--in dark red it delineates the subbasin
area and then smaller'Subdrainage.areas within the
subbasin} and it shows—--the feaches of the streamn,
the ﬂnnémed tributary, are labeled. It also shows
reaches of subdrainage streams that feed into Ehé
main stream, and those reaches and subdrainage areas
are labéled.

Q. What I want to-talk about, and this relates

to Ms. Doty's testimony, and she testified that the

reaches are, in my WOrds,_anyway, not cumulative, and
that is when you look in Appendix B, which-- Is 1t

YOur underétanding Appendix B represents the flow

" data from each reach?

A. That's the way it's labeled, and that's the
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way it's explained in the text, so I assume that's

what it is.

0. And Ms. Doty testified that each--the data
for each reach is independent; that is, it is not
cumulative, like one might expect when water comes
down a stream, that the flow data for the léwer‘part
of the stream would include, you know, the water that
came through  the upper. stream. |

And I hope I'm eXplaining.this right. I

~don't mean to misrepresent it. That's the way I

understood her testimony.

Could you tell us your thoughts or your

analysils of that? | |

A, Well, it's more traditional to list the
reach data and have 1t cumuiative so that the overall
impact cf the enti:e flowiﬁg stfeam‘can be seen at
thé lower reaches and the chénges in the upper
reaches, as you move upslope, you know, can alsc be
seen in their entirety.

And génerally, the end of the reach, you
know, is where 1t meets the next reach .on the main
stream line, and that would just be tfaditional. I
imagine it}s possible that the data éoﬁld be
extracted frqm the model or even out?ut from the

model on a reach-specific basis.
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0. Usinglthé method you've just described, if
the data showed zerc flow in a reach, and, again,
using the methods you've described of what I would

call a cumulative approach, would that mean that that

portion of the stream that showed zero was not

flowing that day”?

A. .Right. That's what 1t would mean. And so,
pexhaps,‘that's the way the model puts the data out.

Q. Ckay.

A. Or it has an option of putting it out that
way might be more of what I'd expect.

0. Do you have ény way of knowing whether the
data fthat Ms,. Doty.has presented in this_report is,
in fact, as she described it or do you have any way

of knowing?

A. No, sir, I don't.
Q. I'd now like to have you turn to page 42 of
that report. No. No. Same report. I'm sorry.

Just keep going back. Page 42. It's the beginning
of Appendilx B.
Al Ah.
THE ADMINZSTRAfIVE LAW JSDQE: And, counsel,
just to help him ouﬁ, there's not much infcormation on
page 42, 1s there?

MR. McAFEE: - No.
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-THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Okay.' So_youA
know you have the right page 1f iﬁ just séys two
things, "Appendix B" and 542."

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
RY MR. McAFEE:
- Q. Now, let's turn the page, which doesn't have

a 43 on it but ﬁas a No. 1, and we've discussed this

a little bit, but I just want to make sure you have a

chance to look at this.

What did you discover when you reviewed this

Appendix B information?

A. Well, the curious things were that the high'
dischérges:in the winter months of January} February,
and even March as it bleeds over into page 2. But
kind of what stuck out was, you know, I'm looking at
gallons per_déy here, s8¢ January'lét, 2002, is 14,429

gallons per‘day. You divide that by 24 and you

divide it by 60 and you get gallons per minute,  and

it seemed a.little high for the stréam. I believe,
you know, roughly it's about 135. 1It's not a very
big stream.

The next one jumped out, 195,000, which is
more in the range of about--and I apologize-~four to
six hundred gallons a minute.‘ And that's gallons per

day, so that foﬁr to gix hundred gallons per minute
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islrunning down the stream all day long. It's Jjust
an average.

In actuality, in reality, after a runoff
period, the stream would -slowly come up, it would
peak, and then it would coﬁe back down.

Aﬁd‘the next one was February 5th, 2002,
860{000 gallons per day, which is getting up there in
the range of six to seven‘hundred gallon$'a minute, I
believe.

And the next thing that grabbed ny éttention
was that this seemed to happen in each of the years
listed on this pagé in those winter months at certain
spikes.

The third thing.that struck me as odd.waé
that the first yeaf we're in the tens of thousands
of-=in the 10,500 range of gallons per day, you know,
9?000, 8,000, 12,000. The rest of the years we're
down in the hundreds, and in vear 2006 we're down to
200, you know, which is a couple tenths of a gallon a
minute. |

So right away I got wondering, you know,
this juét——I'don't'think there's that much variatioﬁ

in the precip out there. It led me to the

climatological tables to look at that closer.

MR. RYAN: Your Honor, if T méy, Ms. Doty

PETERSEN COURT REPORTERS
317 Sixth Avenue, Suite 606
Des Moines, IA 50309-4155

(B15) Z243-65896




10
11

12

13

14

15
i6
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

24

25

1170
hés already testified this data is inaccurate. We
stand by her testimony. I think we Can save
ourselves some time by not having tolrehash data
which we admit is inaccurate. |

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: But you're
putting on your case, Mr. McAfee,‘and it's your call
as to whether-- Another way of dealing with it is,
if that's not sufficient, what Mr. Ryan said, 1if you
could work out a stipulation. 1 don't know if that's
appropriate or whether there's something else ﬁhat.
you're trying to show.

MR . McAFEE: - No, Your Honor. I-believe what
Mr . Ryan said is sufficient. And I don't intend to
belabor this any more except‘té maybe havé ﬁhe
witness look-- |

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE; Okay.

MR. McAFEE: -~just go to another page and
just £estify that they're the same, and then wefll
move on.

Tgﬁ ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Sure! Why
don't you do that. And then you'll move on after you
do that? | |

MR. McAFEE: Yes. - Yes.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Okay.
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BY MR. MCA?EE:

Q. Mr. Hentges, would you go to-- Well, ﬁhat
is Reach 1. Would you go to page 7 and look at the
data for January lst, 2062?- Is that the same-as the
entry on page 1 for January 1, 20027

A. | Yes, if is. |

0. And ultimately, in your review of this, did
you determine that all of the reaches are identical
as far as--

A. Yes, 1 didi“

Q. ~-as far as the output?

And it's testified to by Ms. Doty that this
is a mistake, and did.that—~again( did that cause you
a lot of problems in tryiﬁg to feview the report:?

A. Well, it was-~it was obvious to me it was a
mistake, and, ves, the problem there is that then I |
don't really have the data to look at to evaluate the
compietenéss of the model or the appropriateness of
it, of its implementation.

Q. Now, Ms. Ddty testified that upon'discdvery
of this mistake she did not rerun the SWAT model.
What would you have done in such a situation? And I
assume we've all made mistakes. What would you have
done in that situafiqn? |

A. Well, and T suppose it depends on the nature

PETERSEN COURT REPORTERS
317 Sixth Avenue, Suite 606
Des Moines, IA 50309-4155

(515) 243-6596




10
11
12
13
14
15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23
24

25

1172
of the mistake. I--I would assume by her statement
that she didn't need to rerun the model means that

this data wasn't used, but I have no way to determine

that.

Q. Would you have rerun the model?

A. Well, certainly if this data had been uSed‘
in the model, I would--I'd need to rerun it. 1I'd be
concerned.

.Q. Would you'b@ concerned'and rerun the model

even 1f the data hadn't been used in the actual

model?

MR. RYAN: Objection; leading.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Well, T don't
know that~¥ L@éding suggests that there's only one
answer possible, and I don't know that that-- He

could say, "No, I would not be concerned, " or, "Yes,
I would be concerned;" and that is my ruling:

A. No, I would not be concerned. In other
words, to say that if I--1f I kﬁew this data was not
this--obviously, this data was in error, was not the
actual data that was used and the cérrect data was
used, I weouldn't rerun ﬁhe model .

BY MR. MCAFEE:

0. Now, Ms. Doty testified that this data that

‘was in error was nct used in the APEX model. is
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there similar/data regarding sﬁbareas that's used—--or
that's output in the APEX model, according to your
understanding?

A. No. The APEX output oniy exists in the
report in Tables 2 and 3, and the discharge in Table
2lis on an annual basis in gallons, and the discharge
in Table 3 is on a daily'basis‘in inches.

Q‘. And is—-

A, And I might_clarify; in that Table 3, that

inches generally indicates it's inches over the area

model.

' 0. What I'm asking, Mr. Hentges, is--and maybe
T'm not stating it very well, but i1s there data that
is produced by the APEX model that comes from

subareas”?

A. That data was not provided for review in the
fe@ort. |

Q. Okay. But is there data that comes from a
éubaréa?

A, Yes, there would have to be.

Q. Okay. Bﬁt you don't have that data td
review?

A. That's correct;

Q. Doeé the fact that this data coming from the

SWAT model was, as reported to'us; incorrect cause
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you concern about data you don't have to review from
the APEX model?

A; Well, most certainiy it--without the input

data to review and--I1'm concerned. When the data

‘that is provided to review--for review ig8 1in error,

I'm even more concerned.

Q. You've mentioned Tables 2 énd-3; is that
correct? |

Al Yes, sir.

Q. And are theée tables that are data that is--

Or what produced the data in Tables 2 and 37

THE ADﬁINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: And just help
me out, Mr. McAfee; ~Tables 2 and 3 are found where?

MR. McAFEE: I'm sorzry. Page 10 and page 11
of Exhibit 43.. |

THE ADMINISTRATEVE‘LAW JUDGE: Thank you.

Go ahead with‘your~~ Do you need the
gquestion repeated?

THE WITNESS: No, sir.

. Table 2 shows the APEX model results énd
represents an annual summary of the surface water
discharge and the nutrient discharges from the area
model, which is the feedlot and selected areas

directly around the feedlot.
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BY MR. McAFEE:
Q. And maybe you've testified to this. Do you

have sufficient information to fully evaluate Tables

2 and 37
b, No, I do not.
0. Let's take a look at Table 3 for a minute on

page 11. Do you see the entry on February 18, 20027

A. Yes, sir. It's the first entry ocn the
table.
Q. and tell me what, if anything, strikes you

about'thatlentry.
A. Well, it was interesting that there's no

precipitation listed, but there is surface runoff and

there is sediment and nitrogen and phosphorous all

‘traﬂspdrted‘from the site, and one can only assume

thaﬁ it's snow melt, yet if you check the
climatological data provided for review, 1it's still
gquite cold. I don't remember exactly for.this date,
but there was either no snow on the grouhd or it
wasn't meltinQ.

And then all the sudden the soluble nitrate
runoff in pounds per acre 1s 3.01, the largest'vaLue

in the entire table, and right away I have concerns

" that that-- The other values in this table are

mostly around, you know, .2 or .1, and 1in some cases
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even .02 or .01, and so right away I have concerns .

that the largest amount of soluble nitrogen tﬁat runs
off_this area in pounds per aCre occurg on February
18th, when there waslno rainfall and the'groundrs‘
frozen and the snow's not melting. So that was a
concern. |

‘.I continued to look at the table ﬁhere,.and
I noticed a trend that each year, 1f you look at
roughly the 12th line down or so, on 3-15, 2003,
March 15th, 2003, agaln, there was no precip, there's
a bit more surface water runoff,‘ahd, agalin, a spike
in soluble nitrogen running off the area, a number
higher than almost any number in the table other than
lasttwinter.

Aﬁd the trend kind_dﬁ continues into 2004,

with a .95 on February 22nd,‘2004. Again, no

_precipitation, put runoff occurred. And it just |

seems that--1it concefﬁs me that some of the largest
nitrogen running off that area would happen at this
time of year at‘all,'but the largest and the values
extremely larger than other eveﬁts}

0.  Ms. Doty testified that the weather--and I
want to make sure I dget this correct--that the
weather data used here regarding temperature was not

the'actﬁal_temperature of each day but é mean
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tempefature for the month, and that was used by the
model to--for thatumoath; |

Now, the snowfall was the actual date of the

snowfall, but the model, APEX, used a monthly mean

average, 1s my understanding of what she testified

to, instead of the actual temperature.
Does that cause you—- What‘s your opinion
of that?

A.. Well, I'm aware of thaf method to determine
snowfall runoff, and it's used in several models; the
Thornthwait ﬁodel; the HELP model. A lot of surfacé
runoff models give the modeler the option of

determining whether snow melt occurs slowly, as the

- temperatures rise, vased on actual temperature, oOr

whether alllthe snow is to be held and released once
the.temperature reaches an average level.

And in general, i've used that type of
option on other models that just affect--basically
were infiltration models only. The concern I have
with it on a runoff model is probably exactly what
IT'm seeing here, and that's that the model could then
show huge amounts of minerals and chemiéals.moving at
a period when they don't.

In other words, if I was doing fate and

transport, it would seem to me that Jjust letting it
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occur naturally each little time the temperature

rises and drops would be more realistic of real

‘conditions.

Q. Mr. Heniges, please turn to page 10 of

Ms. Doty's report.

Al Yesi

0. And there's a Section 3.6, "Accuracy of the
predictions." Have you read that section?

A. Yes, I have..

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Counsel, I
Was making a notation. What page now again? I'm
SOrry. |

MR. MCAFEE: Page 10 of Exhibit 43.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Okay. Thank

you. Okay. Go ahead.

BY MR. McAFEE:

Q. could you tell me, what 1is tﬁis—— Well,
what does this page tell you regarding the accuraéy
of the predictions?

A. Wéll, it iists adcuracy within a range of
plus or minus 20 peréent for flow prediction, and.it
goes on to iist the~~indicate that sedimeﬁt's a
little more difficult and that the rates can--are

highly variable, in the plus or minus 50 pércent

‘range.
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Q. Do you have an opinion as to a model that is
accurate to plus or minus 50 percent?

A, Yeg. I--I1 think that's unacceptable for

_modeling.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Unacceptable?-

THE WITNESS: Unacceptable, yes.

. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: So what would
be acceptéble, in your opinion? And T'd like to
know. Becéuse that concerned me‘as well, and I asked
Ms. Doty aboﬁt that. I'm no Sciéntist, but it did
sﬁrike mé,'50 ﬁercent.

First of all, make it clear to me, though,
about your testimony. You're looking at that
paragraph‘3.6, right?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.

THE ADMENISTRATIVE‘LAW JUbGE: And the pilus
or minus 50 percent, that applieés to all the reported
values, or you're rnot sure, or what? What does that
error reply to? I need to get that straight in my
head. You diétinguish that from. flow prediction,
right? |

THE WITNESS: Right. Paragfaph*—SectiQn 3.6
on page 10 indicates that the flow prediction was

plus or minus 20.percent,'the'predicted erosion was

‘plus or minus 50 percent, and it states that's from
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any model, and then it goes on to say it was assumed
that foﬁ APEX the results are within plus or minus 50
percent of the reported values.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: I see
overall. -QOkay. Is that‘what you mean overally'with
thoée problems they then assumed-~ Is it you%

reading that they--to be conservative, they concluded

"there could be a 50 percent error rate?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: = QOkay. S0 ﬁow
we come back to my guestion. I sort of jumped in on
Mr. McAfee, but do you have an opinion about, in a
situation as'this waé-used here for this report,
based upon your experience and training, what is an
acéeptable error rate, 1f vou can offer an opinion
about that and then explain why?

THE WITNESS: Well, as this model is used
her@? the acceptable rate in the--the acceptabie
error rate in the industry is plus or minus 5
percent. If I submit a mbdel te a reguiatofy agency,
and particularly if that regulatory agency is my
client; and I'm not within the 95 pércant confidence
interval, I know fully well I'm going to get that
model back and I'm going tTo work on it until it is.

So the only way to get to that level of
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accuracy is to have data collected in the field to-

compare to the data'predicted by the model for

several different outputs--for all of the outputs,
actually, and then you have a calibrated model able
to provide predictions that are reasonable and
accurate.

What this tells mé is thaf the model is run
more as a policy orwland manag@ment—based Rrocess
model, not intended for the use‘here; regulatory
enforcement, rather just’to get a feel fof, you know,
what could be happening.

RY MR. MCAFEE:‘

Q. Ms. Doty testified fhat tﬁis error rate, as
T recall her testimony, plus or minus 50 percent,
applied to the numbers in Table 3,lf0r instance,
iike, for'example, ﬁhe soluble N runoff bounds per

acre, that the plus or minus 50 percent would apply
' .

to those numbers but that that error rate, if that's

the correct term, did not apply to the number of

discharges that she found in her report, which is

reported on page 10 just above Table 2 as 45, as you

see. I'd i%ke your'opinion on that.
A. Well, i guess my opinion would.be that
that——. |
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW SUDGE: Just-- Do
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you see where he's talking about?

THE WITNESS: I do. I do.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Are you
talking about, counsel, above the table, where it
says, "45 storm events" is that what you're referring
to?

MR. MCAFEE: Yes, I am, Your Honor.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Is that what
vou were looking at on page 107

.THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE:. 30 repeat
your gquestion, please, orrhave Lhe coﬁrt reporfer
repeat it.

MR. McAFEE: I'd be glad to repeét it.

BRY MR. MCAFEE:
Q. Ms. Doty testified that this plus or‘minus

50 percent error rate did not apply to her prediction

from the model of 45 storm events that would cause a

discharge from Lowell Vos' feedlot to a water of the
United States; and I'd iike your cpinion on her
testimony regarding that.

A. Well, I believe that's consistent with what
shé says in her report wheh she =zays that the flow
prediction accuracy was plus or minus 20 percent,

although what I don't understand about that statement
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is that if the--if the plus or minus 20 percent has
to do with the APEX fiow simulation and the plus or
minus 50 percent has to do with the APEX fate and
transport or concentrations of soluble and--soluble
phosphorous sediﬁent transpbrt, I guess that would be
my assessment of what she said, I guess my total
opinion of it is it's too high, too high of an error
percentade. |

Q. Which-- I'm sorry. What is too high of an

error percentage?

A. 50 percent, plus or minus 50 percent for the
chemical runoff. @&And perhaps I should say nutrient
runoff to be more correct.

Q.  Mr. Hentges, you've testified several ftimes

‘today that what you would need to, I believe-- Well,

let mé restate that.

Mr. Hentges, have you testified tdday
regarding infofmation you would need to,
quotemunquoté, doublewcheck information that's been
provided in this case regarding whether there has
been a discharge from the Lowell Vos feedlot to a
water of the ﬁnited States?

L. I--I believe the best way to determine if
there had been a‘discharge would be to‘collect a

sample. And--
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MR. McAFEE: May I apprcach?

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Yes.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

BA. (Continuing) And, indeeé, several samples
would be better than just one; samples upétr@am of
the facility, samples downstream of the facility;
samples :ight‘where the runoff from the facility
drains into the unnamed tributary.

And that's the type of information.
Laboratory analysis of water data or soii‘data
would--would be a lot more definitive and provide
evidence that I don't see here.

BRY MR. McAFEE:

Q. Are you qualified to take water samples in
the manner yéu‘ve described?

A. Yes. |

Q. And aré you aware of the proper quality
control and sampliné procedures”?

A. Yes.

0. = And is it basically, in a nutshell, what
you've deécribed?

A. Yes.

Q. Theré‘s been some testimony in this case
that to do that would reguire a--an area in a wvehicle

to have that type of eguipment of--I believe the
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testimony was, like, 4 foot by 4 foot or something.

Do you believe that is correct as to what--for the

equipment necessary to do proper sampling?

A. Well, it does'depend-- No, I do not believe
fthat. It depends a bit on the number of samples
you're going to take and the number of'analyt@s
ydu’re gonna run, because cerﬁain paraméterg féquire
aifferent ganple containers. Some éan gll be.taken
out of one. Others need special.samplé containgrs
with special preservatives.'

So if you were going to be an extensive
sampling program, I could see where you may take up

that much area, but genérally'just a cooler, sonme

“ice, the standard equipment like gloves and a thief

sampler, which enables you to feach in with a bottle.
In the case of this particular stream, i‘d just
sample i1t from the bank. There's procedures you can
follow.

So my answer is no, because I don;t believe
it would neqessarily.take that. I can see where, if
you sampled many locations and ran many parameters,
it could take that.

Q. For the sampling vou do, if you were asked
to go out and sample the unnamed tributary in

resgponse to--or in_ldoking focr a discharge from the
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Lowell Vos facility where the-- Do you remember the

‘picture of the gully where it--at the confluence with

the unnamed tributary? If you were to go take a
sample there for that, how much equipment would you

need to do that? What would it fit in?

A. Well, you'd nave a standard cooler and theﬁ
a backpack.

Q. Would it fit in‘the ftrunk of your car?

A. It's already iﬁ the trunk of my car.

Q. Okay. Mr. Hentges, I'd like you to turn to

Complainant's Exhibit 15. Tt would be Tab 15.

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.  What is this document? Could you
read the heading, please?.

AL "On-Site Open Cattle Feedlot Inspection
Form."

Q. Have you had a chance to review this
document before foday?

A. Yes.

Q. And on this document, what do yvou see under
ﬁhe heading "Runoff"? It's several lines down where
the heading is "Evidence of Liquid Runoff Reaching
State Water$."

A.  Yes. "Runoff: Solids Reaching Sﬁate

Waters," it's--the answer's circled no. "Comments if
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answer is yes," and it's not filled out.
Q. I'm sorry. Would you read that again?
A. Under "Runoff," it says, "Solids Reaching

state Waters," and "No" is circled.

Q. Okay. i'd like td go to the next heading.
What does 1t say”?

A. "Evidence of Liguid Runoff Reaching State

Waters? Yes."

1187

Q. And what does it then say on the next line?

A. The "Comments 1f answer is yes,"” 1it's
written, "Measured 3.0 milligrams per liter ammonia
at‘bridge southwest of facility;" lThen it says,

"Test Kit Samples Taken? Yes. Results: 3.1
milligrams per liter ammonia, 4.7 pH."
THE ADMINISTRATIVE iAW JUDGE; 4.77
THE WITNESS: 4.ﬁ.
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: I think yQu
might-- I'm looking at-- Unless it's me.
THE WITNESS: Oh{_I'm sorry. Yes. I'm a
bit dyslexic. I apologize. 7.4 pH.
BY MR, McAFEE:
Q.- Would ydu alsoc read the number for the
milligrams per liter on that line again, please?
A. 3.0 milligrams per liter of ammonia!

Q. And I think you have just read into the
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récord that this was done with a test kit sample; is

that correct?

A. That's what the entry indicates.

Q. What does a test kit sample mean to you?

A Well, it's an indicator; I meaﬁ, it's not
as good as a laboratory sample. Unfortunateiy, when

we use them in the field for screening waste

materials, it's very hard to correlate the field data
with the lab data. Sometimes it‘s-fairly close,
other times it's way off.

0. What would vou do i1f you took a test kit
sample that read 3.0 milligrams per liter? Would you
do any fufther testing?

A. Waell, IT'm not 3ure i would for an
agricultural area. Aﬂd I've seen this drainageway.
That doesn't seem like an unreasonable number‘on June
25th. But 1if I was concerged about it, I'd Jjust

collect a sample for the laboratory. It's like a 825

analysis.
Q. You just stated--1 believe you said this
number seemed to be reasonable. Was that the word

you used?
A. Yeah. I think it's typical of areaé where
agricultural row crop production 1is relatively

intense. And, obviously, toward the end of June in
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~any year is not going to be that long after nutrients

were applied, usually anhydrous ammonia, and the
nitrogen, you know, converts to ammonia, and it's
also absorbed in the scil, and it's used by the
plant, but it can run off and be réleased to streams.
And so I would expect to see, éh, I mean,
you kKnow-- Amménia‘s low in.clean watersy but in
general in rural TIowa, 1 to 3 is not unusual ét ali,
and 1 to 6 is geherally what we see. At some of our
Jandfill projects, we'll see 15. At wastewater
treatment plants it can be in the %ens or twenties.
0. Would vou consider this reading at.the

location it was taken {o be a background level?

A Yeah. It appears to me it is, ves.
Q. . Could you make any determination from this
teading-- And you know where it was taken, is that

corr@ct; the location?
| A. Yes. |
0. Could you make any determination youfself
tﬁat this could be_attfibuted to the Lowell Vos

feedlot with the information YOU have?

A. No.
0. Why?
A. No, I g¢ould not. Well, vou know, there's

too many other inputs for ammonia in the watershed.
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And this value isn't--this vaiue is indicative of
what's generally there this time of year all the time
just from agricultural nutrients applied to row crop
fields.

0. And by this time of year, you're referring
to June 25th, 2003( when this was taken? |

A. Yes. |

Q. Okay. Do you see'on the--in the left-hand
margin there, do you see a handwritten notation?

"A. It appears to say Augﬁst 2Z2nd.

Q. Does that mean anything to yvou here? I'm
not saylng iﬁww

A. ﬁé, No. I'have no idea what that means.

Q. Okay;

THE AbMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: And let's go
off the record for a minute.

| (DiScussion.off the record.)

{Short recess.)

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Okay. Now,
because I don't want to forget, we'relgoing to stop
at 5, and there's a good chance, Mr. Hentges, that
you'll be coming back. And'wﬁat I've told all the
witnésses prior to applies to you, which is you may
not talk about this case, vou know, with anyone.

0f course, you can talk--if yvou're married,
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you can talk about it with your wife or something;
but I'm talking about With btherwwwith counsel, with
other witnesses. You just can't talk about this case
until you're done, all right?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir) I understand.
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Okay; Go
ahead, Mr. Mchfee.
BY MR. MCAFEE£

Q. Let's turn to page--excuse me-~Respondent's
Exhibit 8, whic¢h is your report, Mr. Hentges, and I
want tc get to the "Summary and Conglusions.™

A. Yes.

0. Would you just summarize yoﬁr conclusions
for the Court, please.

A, Well, I've just stated that Irdidn't see any
information, you know, thét indicates the stream
flows, sediment transport or--that were simulated by
the model wére compared to data collected. "There's
no inﬁdrmation'that indiéétes the compounds or
chemicals that were modeled for their fate and

transport over time Wwere compared to data collected

-and measured in the field in order to calibrate the

model; therefore, I think that, you know, the model's
predictions are highly guestionable.

The cdmplainﬁ also states that the nature
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- and ektent of the violation is determined %y actual

and potential harm to human héalth'and_the
environment and the significance of the violation,
yet I'm not seeing any evidence in the recérd that
indicates there was violationt

Q. Okay. Mr. Hentges, in your 5pinion, is it
scientifically acceptable, and that is beyond a

reasonable degree of scientific certainty, to use

computer modeling to show that a pollutant from the

Lowell Vos feedlot reached the unnamed tributary of

Ellict Creek?

A. Ne, it is not;-

Q. How about to Ellict Creek itself?

A. No.

Q. Now, I want to use that guestion again, and
feel free if you had--I think you-- Well, I'1ll leave
it up to you. I want to ask you another qﬁestion, a

variation of that, maybe a hypothetical, at leaét in
ny eyes. |

| What if there was one water saﬁple that met
your_requiréments, as you've testified, to be é vaiid
sam?le that showed that, in your opinion-- . I'm
sorry. I need to back up. I apolcogize. I'm trying
to phrase this as carefully as Z can.

" Let's take the hypothetical that if there
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was one watex.samplé that éhowed that there was a
pollutant in the unnamed tributary of Elliot Creek,
one water sample. In your opinion, is it
scientifically acceptable, again, beycnd a reasonable
degree of scientific certainty, to use computer
modeling to show that that one pollutant, that one
sample, and-~to use that in other cases with the
moﬁel, other instances, to show‘that a poilutant from
the Lowell Vos feedlot reached the water of the-~or

the unnamed tributaxy? IXcuse nme.

A. No.
Q.' And how about Elliot Creek?
A. No, it would not.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: So, counsel,
you tell me if this is what you were attémpﬁing to
ask. Are you asking him-- You tell me if this is
correct because I want to understand this as well.
Were you effectively asking Mr. Hentges whether one
could extrapclate on the basis of one sample about
whether pollutants were reaching——that the pollutants.
wefe in and reaching.the Elliot Creek? 1Is that‘what
you were-- .;s that--

MR. McAFEE: Yes.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE. LAW JUDGE: One sample is

not-- S0 1s your guestion is one sample sufficient
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1194
to extrapolate and then apply to the model?
| MR.. McAFEE: Yes.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: And did you
understand that to be'his gquestion?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. Tﬂat was.my
understanding, and my response would be one sample is
not enough.

‘THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: And so you're
going to ask, I hope--

MR..McAFEE: How many?

BY MR. McAFEE:

Q. I believe, Mr. Hentges,_if you want to

A. Wéil, it does. And you would also need sone
additional data points to guantify background,
upgradieﬁt results, rand then, yes, the restlwould be
calibration of the model.

Models like this are extrémely difficuit to
_éonstruct and even a bit more difficult to calibrate,
and it's b@caﬁse'of the variability of flow. In
groundwater ;ystems flow .18 generally fairly uniform,
put you would want to calibrate a model liké this as

low flows as well as high flows, so you'd want some

Seasénal measurements to make sure that the model

predicted accurately throughout the year and under
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varying climate conditions.

MR. McAFEE: Thank you. I héve no further
qu@stions'at this time, Your anor.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Okay. And I
just want to note before I have Mr . Ryan or
Mr. Breedlove conduct the cross, the initial cross,
that it should go without saying that it would be
heipful to me 1f either side can point to any other
.case law in any either administrative or federal
district court forum where these models had‘been used

prior to this proceeding to demonstrate what EPA is

‘attempting to demconstrate here.

In a way, I'd be surprised if this hasn't
come up before, and so I'm hopeful that you'il,_for
ﬁy guidance~-and, of course, I'll do my own résearéh,
but you*re the advocates, so, I mean, if we're
breaking new ground here, I should know that, and if
we're not, I want to.know that toc.

Okéy, Go ahead, Mr. Ryan.

CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. RYAN:
0. Good aftrerncon, Mr. Hentges. I'm Mark Ryan.
I'm with the EPA.V
Did I pronounce your name correctly,

Hentges?
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A. Yes, sir.
Q. Thank you., Why don't we start off by gecing
~through your expert report. Do you have Respondent's‘

8 in front of you?
A. Yes, sir.
0. And I beli@vé you identified this earlief as

a report that you wrote. The date is August 15th,

20087
A, Yes.
Q. And you stated--I believe you testified

earlier, and I believe it also states in this report
that you reviewed in preparation for this report the

EPA's April 7th prehearing exchange for 20087

A. Yes.
Q. Ncow, this report is approximatezy th and a
gquarter pages long. The "General Comments" under 4.0

at fhe end, is that what we would commonly refer to
in th@ industry as boilerplaté? |
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: I'm sorry.
You mumbled there. |
MR. RYAN: I'm sorry.
BY MR. RYAN:
Q. Section 4.0 of yéuf report, is thaf
something that is commonly referred to in the

industry as boilerplate?
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A. Yes. Those are general comments that go at

the end of cux reports.

Q. So that would be a boilerplate disclaimer?
A, Yes.
Q.‘ So ybur actual expert report 1s just under

two pages?

A Yes.

Q. Okay. And did you prepare this in a bit of
a hurry, Mr. Hentges?

A. No. ©No. I--1 took my time, and it took
guite a while toc go through these documents.

Q. Yeah. Okay. So you poiﬁted oﬁt the typo on
page 2. I noticed the title has' a typo in it too on
the cover sheet.

Now, looking-- You had some months, fﬁen,
to review all of this inforﬁation which came in
April, but your report was written.in-August of 2008;
is that correct?

A. I-- No. ©No, sir. It wasn't some months.
T would say about a month. The trial counsél and I
discussed the general specifics of the report or of
the case before I was asked tq——to formally be an
expert witness.

Q. Qkay. And whén did you start working on

this expert report?
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A, Oh, it was-- On actually working on the
text, I mean, I toock some sketch notes probably late
in-=-in Jﬁly, locoked things over, fead the report or
the documents, and then, you know, did the report
dver a period of about a day, a day and a half.

Q. So you were working on it:for.approximately
a month?

I, Yes: Certainly not full time.

0. So you.had plenty of time to think it
through and look at all the information in Ms. Doty's
report? ”

A. Well, no. Actually, I stopped reviewing
Ms. Doty's report when I Wwas informed that 1t was
going to be redone, and I felt that by looking at thé
coéy I had, if things changed, I could, you know,
waste valuable time.and money. So T waited until her
final‘féport was submitted, aﬁd then I did, yes, Jjust
have a--a few days'to get this done.

Q. So you reviewed her final report before you

prepared this report?

A. That's my recollection, ves.
Q. Her August 15th report?

MR. RYAN: May we go off the record for one

minute, Your Honor?

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Yes.

PETERSEN CQURT REPORTERS
317 Sixth Avenue, Suite 606
Des Moines, IA 50309~4155

(515) 243-6596




10

11

12

13

14

15

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1199
{Discussion off the record.)
BY MR. RYAN:

Q. Mr. Hentges, just to clear up the record,
before the breé% when we just went off thé record
just now, I asked you--or I made a statement about a
Tyvpo on fhe cover page of youxrexpert report. Could
you please.turﬁ to the cover page of vyour exﬁért
report, please.

2. Yes.

Q. Do vou see where it says "Data Review Ahd
Evalaution"? |

A. = Yes. Yes.l ?hat's a‘typo. I guess that's
what I get for typing ﬁy own report.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Thank you.

- BY MR. RYAN:

Q. And referring you to Complainaﬁt's Exhibit

43, which is Ms; Doty's expert report datéd‘August
lith-~-

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: You'll need
to get that in front of you, right?

MR. RYAN: Well, only for the purposes of
the déte} Your Hdnor.

THE AﬁMINISTRATEVE LAW JUDGE: Oh, okay.
None of us will need to get it in front of us. He's

just asking about a date.
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BY MR. RYAN .

Q. That report was dated August 1llth. Is it
your testimony today that you reviewed that August
11th report before preparing this August i5th report
of yours? |

k. My recollection of the time line was that I
received it before this report went out, and I was
able to.look at it.quickiy. I certainly had not
completed reviewing it.

Q. Okay. So when you wrote this--your expert

"report, it was based on an incomplete review of

Ms. Doty's report?

A. I guess I wouid say an incomplete review of
her second report, yes.

0. Yeah. BAnd so when ybu reached the
conclusions'in your--your two-page expert‘report,
that was based on an incomplete review of EPA's
expert's report?

A. Yes. Yes. Of the second report.

Q. And I believe you testified earlier that you‘
stopped looking at the first report When you heard a
second one would be coming out?

A, -.Yes. That éeemed like the prudent thing to
do.

Q. So you never completed the review of the
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first report, and you never completed the review of

‘the second repbrt‘before you wrote your report; 1is

that correct?
2 Yes., That's correct. I felt by reading
through the report--

0. Yes or nov?

A, Yes.
Q. Okay. So let's take a look at your expert
report. Looking at page 1, under "Evaluation," which

ig No. 2, do you see that right about the middle of
the page there?

AL Yes.

Q. The last sentence in the first paragraph,
you say "In my opinion, there are gignificant
inconsistencies"--and that's where you, I believe,
pointed out that typo'earlierwm"in the photographs
that EPA claims show manure runoff from the feedlot."

Do you see that séntence?

Al Would you repeat it guickly?

Q. Yéah; I'm sorry. We're looking atlthe last
sentence.of the second fuii paragraph on padge 1 of
your report.

A, Yes.

.Q“ lAnd do you see that sentence "In my opinion,

there are significant"?
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AL Yes.

Q; And are those the photographs you discussed
at the beginning of your direct examination today?

A. Yes, they are.

Q. Okay. And I believe you testified those
groups of photos you looked at are all the groups of
photos you ccnsidered?

AL Yes.

Q. “Okay. So you didn't look at aﬁy other
photos or any other photographic evidence?

A. Those were the prhotos.

Q. Okay. So if there was other photographlc

evidence out there, you didn't consider it?

Al That' B correct.

Q. Is it possible that addltlonal photographlc
evidence might sway your opinion one way or another?

A. Yes, I suppose it could.

Q. Ckay. Now, you talk about the--on page 1,
lower down, the last full paragraph under
"Evaluation," you taiklabout some of your literature
review, and T think you ticked off a number of the
articles that you had read. For example, I pelieve
you testified you read Williams '96; 1s that correct?

AL Yes.

0. Okavy. And a name which you had a hard time
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xeﬁembering exactly how to pronounce, Ramanarayanan
or'sométhing like that?

A. Yes.
Q. A '96, and a Gass ian What year was the

Gass article?

A. I believe that was 2000,

Q. Okay.

AL No. Although there was one in '97 also.
Q. Ckay. Is it poséible vou're referring to

Gassman, G-a-s—-s-m—-a-nv?

A, Yes. Yes. Gassman.

Q. Is it possible it was a 2006 article, not a
§996‘articze? | | |

A. You know, it 1s possiﬁle,‘and I believe--

Although, to tell you the truth, I read both. His

study~- And Mr. Gassman, who is a professor at Iowa

State University, conducted some of the initial

| validation and calibration testing on APEX.

Q. Right.

AL And he wrote a report in 1997--

Q. Okay.

A. --that I reviewed, as well as a review of

the EPIC and APEX nodels in 2006.
Q. Okay. So you did read the--you did review

the Gassman 2006 article?
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A, Yes.
Q. And you would agree, wouldn't you, generally
in scientific literature subseguent articles
typically expand on our knowledge over earlier

articles? Wouldn't you agree with that general

statement?
A. Typically, vyes.
Q. So if you're looking to see what the latest

and greatest is in thg‘literature, you would look at
the most recent articleslsn a pariicular subject,
wouldn't you?

A. Yes, you would.

Q. | And don't the mostlrecent_articles typically

refer'back to the older articles, 1f they're citing

properly?
A.  Yes.
Q. Okay. .Now, I noticed in your report you

didn't actually cite to any articles here; you just
made some geheral statements.

Al Yes.

0. Isn't it standar& practice when writing a
report'and relying on other sources §f literatﬁre to
cite whaf you're referring to?

A.  That's one way to do.it. I had read several

articles and didn't include a reference section in
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“this report.

Q. Yeah. So when we looked at your expert
report, we really had no idea which articles you'd

read, did we?

A. No.
Q. Okay. So-—
A.  Although I took my cue off which articles to .

read based on the report in‘thewwthe model report
done‘by Ms. Doty.

Q. Yeah. So Ms. Doty supplied you with
citations fo the scientific literatﬁre shelwas
relyihg on, correct?

A. Yes.

0. Okay. But you didn't do the same ;n your
expert report?

A. No.

Q. And, in fact, vour expert-—-your expert

report doesn't contain any data or analysis, other

than the general statements we see on the first two

pages of your report?

A. Well, those pages are my analysis.

0. = Right. Okay. But no tables, no graphs?
A. No.

Q. Now, let's look at page 1 of your rép&?t,

which is Respondent's 8. About the third full
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| paragraph, which was at the bottom of the page, the

sentence savs, right in the middle of that paragraph,

and I'11 read it and tell me if you can follow along}

it says, "References in the literature indicate that
the models used by the EPA are most effective at
simulating the long-term impacts of different
dfopping systems and management practices and the
models are.nqt reliable for replicating the effect of
single élimatic events on erosion énd other losses or
for internal"--excuse me--"inter-annual variability
between crop vields and poliutant losses. "

| Do‘you see thét sentence?

A. 'feah.

Q. ~ Now, do you believe that to be a fair
representation of the literature?

A. I saw that in several instances, and that's

why I repeated it here.

0. Okay. Are those your own words or did you
take that out of another article?

Al You know, the general concept of the
information I saw in a couple places, so I made notes
on it and reconstructed it here.

| Q. Okay. Let me ask the'question again. Are

those your own words or did you take that language

‘out of an article, that sentence I just read?
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A These are my own words based on what I read
in ééveral differentlpiaces in the literature.
Q. Okavy.

MR. RYAN: Your Honor, may I £fire up the
LitePro real quick?

SteV@, could you please turn that on for me.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: We'll go off
the record. |

(Discussién off the récord,)

MR . RYAN: For the record, I just handed
o?posing counSel_and Your Honor a copy of a document
entitled "Historical Deﬁelopmenf in Appliéations of
the EPIC and APEX Models." Primary author is Philip
W. Gassman,-Juné of 2005, For the record, Gassman 1S
spelled G-a-s-s-m-a-n.

BY MR. RYAN:

Q. T Mr. Hentges, pl@ase feel free to look at the
entirety of this article, but I'm going to ask you
just about one page. Is tﬁis one of the érticles

that you relied on? I believe you testified earlier

that--

A, Yes. I--1 read this article.
Q. Okay. I'm going to refer you to page 29.
TEE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: While you're

getting ready to ask him a guestion, I take it,
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Mr.'Ryan, this is not part of the iecord yet?

MR. RYAN: No, this is not part of the
record, Your Honor. Simply using it for impeachment
purposes.

Are we on the regord now, Your Honor?

THE ADMINTSTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Yes.

BY MR. RYAN:

Q. Okay. Mr. Hentges, can we please-- I'm
goihg to mark right now with my pen on the overhead
SO we can see eﬁaCtly which sentence I'm locking at
on the Gassman article in page 29.

In Gassman, we're looking at the sentence iﬁ
the conclusion which says, "The results of many
studies described here indicate." Do you see that

sentence?

A. Yes.
Q. Okay. And I'm reading now from yourlexpert
‘report.
MR. RYAN: Forgive for one minute; ?our
Honor.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: I see where
it is. You lost 1it?
| MR. RYAN: I've lost.where I'm supposed to
be, Your Honor. I apclogize.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: You're right.
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Keep going where yoﬁr pen is. "The applications
reviewed." Just keep going.:
MR. RYAN: Okay. I see.
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: All right.
BY MR. RYAN:

Q. We're actually looking at the sentence that
starts, "The applications reviéwed also reveal that
EPTC and APEX are most effective."

Do you see that? Okay. Do you see that
sentence, Mr. Hentges?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Now, ﬁhat gzentence save, "The
applications reviewed also reveal that EPIC and APEX
aré most effective‘at simulating the long-term
impacts of differént cropping systems and ménagement
practices and that the models arelless accurate at
replicating the effects of single climatic eventé on
erosion and other losses or inter-annual variability
between crop yields and pollutant losses."

Do you see that sentence?

A. Yes.

0. Okay. Now, let me read you——let‘s read
along from that, and let me read your sentence from
your expert report. And after the word "EPA" in your

expert report, you say that the models are,
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gquote~-I'm now reading a from your expert
report--"most effective’-- I think it picks up right
here after.the words APEX and EP;C.

I'm reading from your report noﬁ: "ARre most
effective at simulating the long-term impacts of
different cropping systems and manageﬁent practices
and the models are," qubte, "hot reliabie“;—those are
your words-~"in replicafing the effect 5f single
climatic events on erosion and other losses or for
inter-annual variability between crop yields and
pollutant losses.”

Do you see thét?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, you would agree, would you not, that
after the words "EPIC and APEX" on page 29 of Gassman
that the rest of that sentence is identical to what
you wrote in the report, except for the words "are
less accurate"?

A. Yes.

Q. S0 yda changedwwyou‘iifted this out exactly
from Gassman, didn't you?

A. Not exactly.' ifve changed it.

Q. Okay. So you changed the words "are less
accurate” &o "not reliable"?

A. Yes.

PETERSEN COURT REPORTERS.
317 Sixth Avenue, Suite 606
Des Moines, IA 50308-4155

(515) 243-6596




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1211
0.  ©Okay. And you would agree, would you not,
that the words "less accurate," do not mean‘"not

reliable"? Wouldn't you agree with that?

A. - Relative to groundwater-modeling, noc, I
wouldn't. Lesg accurate is not acceptable in fate
and transport. You need to be as accurate--

MR. RYAN: Excuse me.. Your Honor--

A. - No, I would not agree with that.:

BY MR. RYAN;
| G. “Thank you. . You Would npt agree witﬁ thét‘

So you would agree, Would you not, that 100 percent
ié perfectly accﬁrate, would you not? |

A. Yes. |

Q. :And yvou would agree that 99 percent is iess
accurate fhén 100 percent, would you not?

A. Yes.

Q. | So the statement that somethiﬁg is less

accurate does not necessarily mean it's not reliable,

correct?
A. That's correct.
Q. S0 your statement on its face here is, you

would agree, not an accurate representation‘of what
the literature says?
A. No, I-~I wouldn't. And that's-~

0. That was the answer to my guestion. Thank
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you; Now, regarding reliability--

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: I have to
note in fairness, Mr . Ryan, I'm allowiﬁg you leeway
in c¢ross-examination, but.I don't see anywhere in his
very brief report that he ties himself to this one.
I think it says "refereﬁces in the literature," and
you'va-picked upon a particular reference, and so}
you know, I have to note that. You know, there's a
bit of a stretch there.

But the other point I want tc mention,

‘besides that observation, 1is that I assume there's

not going to be any objection from counsel, but I
think this report, it potentially, not necessarily,

put it could be useful to me, and I would like to

have it be part of the record.

boes anyone havé a problem with fhat?
- MR. RYAN: No, Your Hcnor.

MR. McAFEE: No, Your Honor.

MR. RYAN: We cite it in Ms. Doty's report.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: I know that.

MR. RYAN: I would assﬁme that--

IHE ADMINTSTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: And I think

actually I could take notice of 1%, but let's have it

| be-—-and so we'll give it an EPA exhibit number.

You're the one that brought it up.
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MR. RYAN: That's fine with me, Your Honor.
Complainant‘s Exhibit--

What are we at now?

MR. BREEDLOVE: I think we're at a 55.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE:  Well, let's
be sure.

MR . EREEDLOVE: 55, Your Honor.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Qkay. And s0
without objection from either side, on my motion that
this "Historical Development and Applications of the
EPIC and APEX Models," entétled "A Working Paper"
dated June 2005, is part.of the record as
Compléinant's Exhibit 55. And just for accuracy,
this is a 43-page document.

(Complainant's Exhibi£ No. 56
was received in evidence.)

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Now, I don't
know that it's going to be of great moment, but who
knows . 1'd rather have it. So that's in.

Go ahead, Mr. Ryan.

MR. RYAN: .And while we're on that subiject,
Your Honor, I would ask that we--that you take
judicial notice of any literature cited in the
studies in this case, given that we're talking about

the scientific basis, and allow us to cite to
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anything that's cited by Ms. Doty that she relied on.

And I believe counsel--I believe the witness
has stated he relied on at least some of those
articles himself. They're published articles.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Yeah. I'm
thinking the correct term of art. _Maybe I'm béing
too semantic hereglwhether it's Judicial notice or
official notice, but, yes, any report I should be
able to look to reports that are cited.

And not that I can interpret 1t, but I can
certainly guote from reports that are cited, 1f
thét's——if I f£ind that that's useful in responding to
arguments or reaching my own conclusions, ‘whatever
they may be in this case.

MR, McAFEE: Aﬁd, Your Honor, may‘we do that
in our Sriefs aiso?

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Yes. But
then what we need to do is, in a brief, I would
expeét as an attachment that you'd provide me the
Courteéy cf the docﬁm@nt itself. If.it's a
voluminoué document and the rest of it is not
pertinent and counsel:agr@@ that I can understand the
section or paragraphs that are being cited to, then
the parties would agree that that's sufficient. If

one side says no, he has to have the whcle document,
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then you'll have to provide‘that along with--along
with the arguments, okay? |
And I'm going ﬁo have sevéral-other cdmments

that will help guide you, I hope, at. the close of the
proceeding when we're done. That will be next Friday
or-- No. I'm just kidding.

| We probably are going to, I would think,
fiﬂish now maybe %uesday, but I don't know. We'll
try our best for Monday, right?

Go ahead, Mr. Ryan.

‘BY MR. RYAN:

Q. So ybu‘would agree, wouid you not, that the
Gassman article did not say "not reliable"?

AL Yes.

Q. Aﬁd referring you b@ck to page 1 of yoﬁr
two-page report, the last sentence on that first

page, you say, "The models used by EPA to deternmine

‘the number of unauthorized discharge events were

developed for use as a policy and land use planning

tools"~-I believe it should be--"to develop.long~term
farm management strategies." Do you see that?

AL Yes.

Q. Now, you would agree, would you not, that a

model can be used for something other than its

;aitiai design if it's proved reliable, would yoﬁ
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- not?

A. Yes.

Q. so regardless of why thesé models, the SWAT
model or the APEX model,-were originally developed,
if they can produce scientifically justifiable
results, then they could be relied on, correct?

A. Yes, I believe they could.

Q. For some other purpose than what you say as

| planning purely?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, 1in that sentence I just réad, on the
bottom of your page, you ftalk about unauthorized
discharge eveﬂts. What do you mean by that term?_

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Mr, Ryan,
help me out. Where is that you're r@ferring to?

MR. RYAN: 'Last.sentence on page i of
Respondentis 8, Your Honor.

| THE;ADMINESTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: "The models
used by EPA deteimine the number"; is that what .
youfr@ talking about?
| MR. RYAN: Yes.

TEE ADMINXSTRAfIVE LAW JUDGE: ThanleOu.
BY MR. RYAN:
| Q. You used the term "unauthorized discharge

events." What do you mean by that term?
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L. Well, Ms. Doty used a’model to determine the
anumber of times thait manure waé discharged from the
feedlot,‘and I was charadterizing that as an
unauthorized diséharge event.

Q. Ckay. Now, did Ms. Doty use that term,
unauthorized discharge event, in her report?

A. I believe I got that term from the actual
complaint.

Q. ‘Okay. And so you're interpreting her report
in the context of the complaint?

A. I believe so, vyes, but I also believe I'm
interpreting the cohblaint in the context of the
complaint and her report in the cdntext of her
report.

Q. So do you~~ Strike thaﬁ.

Do you have an understanding of what the
level of proof is for proving an unauthorized
discharge event in a proceeding like this?

MR . McAFEEﬁ Your Honor, T will obiject as it
célis for a legal conclusion.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: I sustain the
obijection.

BY MR. RYAN:
0. So let's locock at page 2 of your report.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: You'll draw
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' those conclusions, Mr. Ryan. You'll base them on

whaﬁ he said and then you'll make that comparison and
then ieaa'me to how that dqes not meet, I assume,
from your perspective.

MR. RYAN: Well, Your Hoﬁor, I . think as
further quésti@hing will show, he's drawing
conclusions here régarding the evidence in this case

and he's making statements about the trustworthiness,

' of whether the evidence‘produced‘in this case meets

thelstandard, and I think I'm entitled to understand
what his understanding o¢f the relevant standards are.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: wWe'll deal
with each guesticon as it goes along.

BY MR. RYAN:

Q. Okay. Let's loock at page 2 of your report
and No. 3.

Al Yes.

0. ‘ Second. full paragraph, second tb.last

sentence, you state there, "A scientific
determination‘ﬁust be based on data that meets the
minimum criteria for environmental assessment and
testing in order to becoﬁe evidence of actual or
potential harm."

Do you see that?

A Yes.
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Q. lNow, when you talk about evidence, are you
speaking of evidence in this proceeding?

k. Yes. Yes. I believe I'm talking about
evidence in general, bﬁt I'm appiying it to this
proceeding, and that's the way I intended it.

Q. Okay. Did you write all of this entire
report? Was it all youf words?

A. Yes. Except for the part you pointed out
that I lifted from Gassman, it's my words.

Q. and did counsel for Respondent review your

report before it was finalized?

AL Yes.
Q. And did he make any changes to your report?
A. Yes, he did. He made one change. I had

inadvertently put Ida County down as the location of

the feedlot, and T believe I made that mistake

-because I think Mr. Vos actually lives in Ida County,

and the fe@dlot's in Woodbury.

So if I have that right, yes, Mr. McAfee
said that I needed to change Ida County to Woodbury
County wherever.it existed}

0. Other than that, did Mr. McAfee make any
changes to‘your report? | |
A. Ne, sir, he did not.

Q. Now, so-—-and again, I'm going to restate my
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gquestion, 1t is your professional opinion ﬁhat
scientific determinations must be based on data that
meets minimum criteria for environmental assessment
and testing in order to become evidence of actﬁal or
potential harm, and what is your understanding of
what level of proof‘is required in a proceeding like
this for something to be evidence?

MR. McAFEE: Objection, Yoﬁr Hondrk Calls
for a legal conclusion.

THE ADMIEESTRATIVE LAW JUDGE:  Yes. I don't
think that it leaas to your~--that that sentence leads
to what you're asking this witness about.

I mean, it seems to me that he can make that

statement, "A scientific determination must be based

on data that meets the minimum criteria for
environmental assessment and testing in order to
become evidence of actual or.poteﬁtial harm." I

don't think he's—-that that ties him to this

proceeding.

He's talking, aé I interpret this sentence,
what ié the minimum criteria to show actual or
potential harm, and as a scientist, he's talking
about that vyou have to have data that meets the
minimum criteria.

So I don't see it as being tied to his
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understanding, as you're suggesting, Mr. Ryan, of a .
level of proof in this proceeding, so I am sustaining
the objectién.
BY MR. RYAN:
0. We talked a minute ago about accuracy, ahd

you agreed that 99 percent accuracy was less'accurate

than 100 percent accuracy. Do you recall that?
A Yes.
0. And if something is 75 percent accurate,

would you say it's more likely than not that it

happened?

A. Probably. But it kind of dépends cn.what it
is. | |

Q. 'I'm just as a general statement, if

something is--

L. Well, if it's like hitting on a slot
machine, I wouldn't guess that an hour later I'n
going-torhave a 75 percent chance of hitting again.
So, you know, odds are funny about certain différent
thimgs.‘

0. - So let me phrase it this way: If a report
were to report that its findings:were 75 peréent
aécurate, would you say that it was more likely than
not that the results Were-accurate?

A. "More likely than not" is kind of subject to
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definition. 1I--I would say what it points out is
that 75 percent of the time it's right and 25 percent
of the time it's wrong.

Q. And_in that case would you say it's more
likely than not that it's right?

A. 75 percent of the time.

o Let's lock at your ﬁictureSW— Excuse me.
Let's look at the pictures that we discussed inﬁyour
direct examination. Could you please turn to

Compléinant‘s Exhibit 28, please.

A. Excuse me. Exhibit 28--

Q. Yes. |

A.  --or Exhibit 28 Pollard?

0. I believe your t@stimoﬁy was on Exhibit 28.
A.. Yes.

Q. ‘And please turn to ﬁhoto No. 3.

A. Yes. |

Q. Now, you Wéfen't present at Mr. Vos' feedlot

when this photo was taken, were you?

A No, I was not.

0. You testified on direct that you visited
Mr. Vos' feedlot. How many tiﬁés have you been
there?

A Once.

o. And when was that?
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A. It was about two, two and a half weeks ago.
Q. And when you were th@ré, did you walk the
entire area? How much of his lot--or his property

did yvou see?

A. I saw the feedlot. I saw the surrounding.
areas. I looked at the detenticn pond and the
terréce. I looked at %he-creek just west of the

feedlot and the detention pond.
0. When you say the creek, would that be the
tnnamed tributary?

A. That's correct, the unnamed tributary.

Q. And how long were you on site?
A. Oh, boy. About 2 1/2 hours.
Q. Okay. Did you walk down through his

cornfields to the soﬁth of his feedlot?
A. I did-- Other than looking at that terrace,

which is a bit more west than it is south, I looked

‘at the south end of the feedlot, but I did not go in

the cornfields. Corn was very high.

Q.' So you didn't look at the erosional features
that were in soﬁe of the phétographs we've looked at
here todéy with you that proceed off to the west from
the facility, to the south and west?

A.  No. I--1 assumed within a month they hadn't

changed much from the July photographs I reviewed.
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Q. So YOu didn’t~wyou didn't actualliy-- You
were thére but vou didn‘t take the time to go look at
them with your own ey@balls?'

A, I looked at other things.

Q. So going back to Exhibit 28, Photo No. 3,
you stéted that you found-~if I'm correct, and
correct me if I'm wrong--that you said vyou wéré not -
gquite certain--well, I have, and correct me if I'm
wrong, you're not qﬁite certain how it came from the
pens, referring to the flows that wa$ attributed to
Photo No. 3.

So you can't actually see the pens 'in the

distance on this photo, can you?

A. No.

0. Yeah. And I believe yoﬁ already testified
you weren't there_when.this photo was taken.

A, That's correct.

0. Yeah. And yﬁu don't know what's beyond this
photo, do you? | .
A.  Yes. Because there's a map here upfront

that shows--

0. That was a yes~no gquestion. You don't know

‘what's beyond this,. do you?

A. Yes. Because I can look at the map that

shows where this photo points and orient myself, so
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the answer would be yes, I know what's beyond this

rhoto.

Q. Okay. Why don't you show me what's beyond
'this photo.

AT Well, I will need to go to the key, and it
shows Photo 3 on-- It's the first item in this

Exhibit 28. Photo 3 shows a blue circle on the léft
hand of the page. that points due east. Photo i's
tight next to it. 'So based on looking at Pﬁoto 1, I
héve alpretéy good feel what's in the background

upgradient on Photo 3.

0.  And how do you know that? From which other
photo?
A. Well, I rely upon the key that Sayé "Photo

Index 3-11, 2008, EPA," that it's correct that 1 and
3 are pretty-close'to each other and both point edst.
Q. S50--
A. Photo 1 shows the foreground--or the
background, -and Photo 3, a little bit to the south,

shows the close-up.

Q. Okay, let's look at Photo 1.
A, Yes.
Q. Do you believe that further provides support

for your testimony that you can't tell where that

water is coming from?
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A. You know, I lcok at this photb and I see
esnow all over the terrace, I see snow between the
feedlot, andmwand the berm which is before thé
terrace; and it just loéks like~-~1I look out over the
field, énd to the right and I see snow everywhere,
and it's all melting, and it's--it's snow melt.

Q. Okay. Now, would it surprise you 1f there
were testimohy that that discharge had a color.to'it?

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: If the'what

had a color to it?

MR. RYAN: That discharge into the creek

depicted in Photo 1 and 3 had a color to iti

BY MR. RYAN:

Q. Would it surprise you?
A. No.
Q. And you can't--you can't -say from léoking at

these photos, because you weren't there that day,
whether, in fact, this is coming from the terraced

area on the top of Photo 1 or not, can you?

A.  Well--

Q. That's a yes or no question.
*A.  No, I can't.

Q. So let's move on to Photo 5.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: I just want

to provide Mr. Hentges with the same courtesy that I
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provided for the other witnesses, including Ms. Doty.
If you rem@mbei, several times I said
oftentimes a witness will want to say more, but
because of the déture‘of cross—examination, the

person conducting that can insist upon a yes or no

answer., and while that's true, that dcesn't end what

you have the ability to say, because after vou commit
with your yes or no, you then have the opportunity‘té
explaiﬁ your answer, and I will ailow ydu to do that.
| So in the‘future bear that in mind. First
do as Mr. Ryan instructs, if he believes that it's a
yes Or no answer.
Another possible answer is--I'm not at all

a&vising you what to say or even suggesting what to

say, but the choice can be yes or no or it can be

none of the above, which would be "I can't answér
that question.” Just e you know that the rahge is
nof yes or no. It may be, but it also can be "I |
cannot answer that question.”

And the other thing is if it can be answered
with yes or no, yes 0or no, then you do have the
opportunity, and if it's--I am relying upon your
counsel to remind me of that if that happenswmif you
want to say more,'you will have that opportunity to

say that.

PETERSEN COURT REPORTERS
317 Sixth Avenue, Suite 606
Des Moines, IA 50309-4155

(515) 243-6596




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1228

Okay. Now, it's 5 of 5, so you're golng to
have to plan to-- I'm willing to go for the next
three or four minutes, Mr. Ryan, and we'll do that,
but then we're going to stop.

MR. RYAN: Your Honor, 1'm mcre than happy
to forge ahead for the next few.minutes,‘or we can
stop'now.'

THE ADMINESTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Sure. Go
ahead and forge. .

MR. RYAN: Thank you.

BY MR. RYAN:

Q. Please loock at Photo No. 5, Mr. Hentges, for
Complainant's Exhibit 28.
A. Yes.

0. And vyou would agree that that's. an erosional

| feature that's visible in Photo No. 5, would you not?

A. Yes. A

Q. And vou would agree that that was‘caused.by
flowing water?' |

A. Yes.

Q. And you would agree that itlf}ows~wsince

you've testified earlier that you looked at the key,

that it flows in the general direction of the earlier

photos showing the discharge into the unnamed

tributary, would you not?
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A, Yes.

Q. And you would agree that, given the key,
that this photo is taken in the vicinity of thelweét
perimeter of the--the northwest perimeter of the
feedlot, would you not?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, when you were--when you were at the
faciiity a couple of‘weeks ago, did you make an
assessment of the perimeter of the feediot? Did you

ilook fo-see whether there were any berms in place?

A, Yes.

Q. And‘were-thgre any berﬁs surrounding the
feedlot?

‘A. ‘There were some berms at some places, but

they did not surround the entire area.

Q. And did vou make an assessment forrérosional
features leaving the feedlot during your visit two
weeks ago? |

A .Yes.

Q.. ‘And did you see evidence of water features
coming off of the site, sﬁch as Photo No.lS?

A. Yes. RBut in this particular region, this
had been channeled over to the terrace.

0. I'm just asking you generally, did ydu gee

erosional features coming off this site?
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A. Yes. Yes.
0. Now, you would agree that water runs

downhill, correct?

A, Yes.

Q. And that this site is at the top of a hill?
A. It is.

Q. And in a precipitation event, heavy rain

event, water would run off this site; would yﬁu agreé
with that stétement?

A, Yes,

Q. And that it would primarily migréte to the
west and the south through the erosional features
that are present there? |

A Yes.

Q. And it's not a long distance from the edge

of this facility to the unnamed tributary, is it?

A. Well, I didn't walk it. I know there were
some—-— T measured some distances. it's not a far

distance, but it's--you know, was measured in miles,

like .4, .7.

Q. Okay. But it varies from different parts of
the--

AL Sure.

0. And you would agree,_would you not, that

some of these phoﬁoqraphs that you've reviewed show a
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continuous path from thé edge of the lot down to the
unnamed tributary, deon't they?
A, “Yes.

Q. Okay. And in that continuous path would

aliow discharges off the site to exlt the site and

reach the unnamed tributary; you have to admit that,
wouldn't you?
| MR. McCAFEE: Your Honor, I object to the
f@rm of the guestion.

THE ADMINISTRATEVE LAW JUDGE: He doesn't
have té admit that.

BY MR. RYAN:

0. You would admit that, wouldn't you?
A. No.
0. You would not admit that water ieaving the

site could reach the unnamed tributary through the
erosional structureéwerdsional features that we've
seen in these photos?

A. Yes, I would admit that water leaving the
fe@dlot.will~mw£ll flow downhill south and wesf and
likely some of it would make it to the creek.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAw.jUDGE: This is é
good point tolstop.
’Okay. And so, again, I séid it to you once

before, but remember you're not to talk about the
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case with anyone, Mr. Hentges, aﬁd we're going to
resume at 9:30 on Monday morning.

And just help me out, Mr. Breedlove. This
is so basic, I'm almost embarrassed to ask it, but .
I'm going to ask it anyway. The ?eriod of violation
involved in this casey I %now we had a statute‘of
limitations issue, did we not?

MR. BREEDLOVE: Yes, Your Honor, we did.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: And so

bearing that in mind, the five-year statute of

limitations, and also bearing in mind that--and
you're getting this down, correct--also bearing in
mind that Mr. Vos is no‘ionger in violation because
he's below a thousand heads, this violation is not
continuing through to today, that;s not EPA's
positién, what is the starting point and ending
point, based on the complaint, for this wviclation?
Do you want'tQ give me those dates, pléaée?'

MR. BREEDLOVE: I want to make sure I get it
accurate, Your Honor.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Sure.

MR. BREEDLOVE: Your Honor, I believe.we
used the date that we filed tﬁelcomplaint, which
would have been August 14th or so, 2007, and went

back, but, of course, we wouidﬁ't be seeking
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violations for the periods of time where he dropped
below the 1,000;heéd threshold.

So I believe he came--

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: I need you to
Ee a little more precise, because this is part of the
charge as to when these violations occurred. That's
so basic, thatfs‘why I need your guidance on this.

MR. BREEDLOVE: Yes, Your Honor.

- THE ADMZNESTRAT;VE LAW JUDGE: So we're not
looking after Aﬁgust 14th to the present, we're
talking abouf August 14th, 2007, and then working our
way back?

MR. BREEDLOVE: Working back, Ydur_Honor.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: To what date?

MR. BREEDLOVE: It would be five years back
from the statute of limitations because of the
statute of 1imitati§ns.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Okay. S0 to
2002? |

MR. BREEDLOVE: Yes, Yéur Honor.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE : Okay. ‘So at
some point I‘ﬁ going to need some help from counsel
about, 7just as a general issue, what am I to dcw;

And this is not something I expéct an answer on right

now, and maybe this is just a reflection of how deep
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I'm not, okay,‘but T'm wondering about the relevance
and probative value of photographs taken in March of
2008 when the period of violétioﬁ ends in Aﬁgust of
2007.

I'"m--I'm wondering in my head what
deductions I'm able to make from photographs and
other things that temporally, temporally deal with
the period of time after the period that EPA is
alleging violations.' |

Just one of the things that I'm musing
about, and I'm devaloping‘quite a list of things,
actually, that I'11 be mentioning to ydu at the close
of the hearing.

| And you can priVately, once I'm gdne, just
scoff at the éimplicity of some of my observations,
or maybe you'll help me out and think they'xe of some
value dr not, but I take no offense either Way.

But that is a question.z'mwwone of-the many
things I'm thinking aboﬁt in the case.

MR. McAFEE: Your Honor, could I--
Regarding the date, I believe the record shows
that—--or will, the date that he came into compliance
by reducing to less than 1,000 head is‘February‘19th,
2007.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Oh.
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.MR. McAFEE: ‘And if it's not in the record
yet, I apologize. I think it 1is somewhere. I can't
say.
" Do you, Dban?
MR. BREEDLOVE: If it hasn't been put in the
record, I'm sure it will be very shortly.
MR. McAFEE: From someone other than me.
THE ABMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Right. So
thaf's February 19th, 2007, all right.
MR. McAFEE: Yes,_Yonr Honor.
. MR. BREEDLOVE: Yes, Your Honor.
THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: So that sort
of~~ Whether I'm off on a wild tangent or not, that
either makes that more important, or maybe it doesn't

matter at all. But if it is important, then, you

. know, wefr@ talking about photographs that are a year

after Lthe périod of time.

T'm pretty transparent. I try to let you
know the things that concern me, and there will be'
others.

Okay. See you all--

MR. BREEDLOVE: Your Honor?

'THE‘ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Yes.

MR. BREEDLOVE: 'Oneimattex ofAbookkeeping

here. I was passed a note saying that I think the
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Gassman article was actually Complainant's Exhibit_
56, not 55.
THE ADMINISTRATEVE LAW JUDGE: Okavy. So I'm
marking on my copy 56.
And the . .good news for;Amy is tﬁat I notice

that you will be able to punch holes in this for me

without taking away critical text. You know, just

when I get to a point I want to read'som@thing and--
But that won't happen for'this exhibit, so that's
good news.
"I hope you all have a nice weekend, I meén
that, and we'll see you a&i Mdnday MOYNing.
(Reéess at 5:00 p.m., untii 9:30 a.m.,

Monday, September 22, 2008.)
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CERTIPFICATE
I, the undersigned} a Certified Shorthand
Reporter of the State of Iowa, do hereby certify that
I acted as the official court reporter at the hearing
in the'above—entitleé matter at the time and place
indilcated;

That I took in shorthand all of the

proceedings had at the said time and place and that

said shortﬁand notes were reduced to typewriting
under my direction and supervision, and that the
foregoing typewritten pages are a full and comﬁlete
transcript of the shorthand‘notes so0 taken.

Dated at Des Moines, Iéwa, this 25th day of

September, 2008.
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